CHICKPEA AQUAFABA AS AN EMULSIFIER IN FOOD-OIL SYSTEMS

A Thesis Submitted to the College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering University of Saskatchewan Saskatoon

By

Yue He

©Copyright Yue He, May 2019. All rights reserved.

PERMISSION TO USE

In presenting this thesis, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a degree of Master of Sciences from the University of Saskatchewan, I agree that the Libraries of this University may make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for copying of this thesis in any manner, in whole or in part, for scholarly purposes may be granted by the professor or professors who supervised my thesis work or, in their absence, by the Head of the Department or the Dean of the College in which my thesis work was done. It is understood that any copying or publication or use of this thesis, or parts thereof, for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission. It is also understood that due recognition shall be given to me and to the University of Saskatchewan in any scholarly use which may be made of any material in my thesis. Requests for permission to copy or to make other use of the material in this thesis in whole or in part should be addressed to:

Head of the Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering University of Saskatchewan 57 Campus Drive Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N 5A9 Canada College of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Room 116 Thorvaldson Building 110 Science Place Saskatoon, Saskatchewan S7N5C9 Canada

ABSTRACT

Aquafaba (AQ) is a viscous liquid produced during boiling or pressure-cooking chickpea seed in water. This by-product solution has been gaining popularity since 2014, when a blogger used AQ as an egg replacement in a vegan meringue. Due to its foaming and emulsion properties, AQ is increasingly being used as an egg replacement to add functionality to food products, such as mayonnaise, ice cream, pudding, and baked goods. The objective of this study is to select a chickpea cultivar that produces superior AQ for production of food oil emulsions as well as standardize AQ production. Seed of five chickpea cultivars were selected for AQ production: CDC Leader, CDC Orion, CDC Consul, CDC Luna, and Amit. Emulsion capacity and stability of AQ derived from different chickpea cultivars were determined. Physicochemical properties of different chickpea cultivars, such as hundred seed weight, seed coat incidence, seed dimensions, hydration kinetics, and proximate composition (moisture, ash, protein, fat, carbohydrate, and crude fibre) were also measured to determine possible correlations of these parameters with AQ emulsion properties. The effects of soaking and boiling of chickpea seed on yield and properties of AQ were determined. After selection of optimum conditions for preparing AQ, five drying methods (freeze drying, spray drying, oven drying, rotary evaporation drying, and vacuum drying) were compared. Dried AQ was rehydrated with distilled water, and its emulsion capacity and stability were measured. AQ from CDC Leader had the greatest emulsion capacity $(1.10 \pm 0.04 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1})$ and stability $(71.9 \pm 0.8\%)$ and produced the most stable food oil emulsions. There were no correlations observed between AQ emulsion properties and chickpea seed chemical properties. On the other hand, AQ emulsion properties were negatively correlated with AQ yield and moisture content, indicating that AQ with higher dry-matter content displayed better emulsion properties. Among the treatments tested, soaking chickpea seed in 4 °C water for 16 h followed by cooking for 30 min produced AQ with the greatest emulsification properties. Spray drying achieved a high drying rate and drying efficiency, so it was a superior method for AQ production. In conclusion, AQ can simulate the function of egg in food oil emulsions and can be prepared from all cultivars tested but cooking conditions and genotype must be controlled to produce a consistent product.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I owe a great debt of gratitude to my supervisors, Dr. Martin J.T. Reaney and Dr. Venkatesh Meda, for their invaluable academic guidance, encouragement, continuous support and patience in my research program and in writing this thesis. Their office doors were always open for me whenever I had a problem with my experiments or writing this thesis. They offered me four opportunities in the past two years of attending high-level academic conferences in Vancouver, Montreal, and Saskatoon as an oral or poster presenter, so I could have a chance to visit these beautiful cities and learn about the latest developments in research and other relevant work as well as share the results of my work with colleagues.

I am grateful to my advisory committee members, Dr. Lope G. Tabil and Dr. Lifeng Zhang and my external examiner, Dr. Yongfeng Ai, for their professional advice, enthusiasm, and support during my graduate program. I would also like to extend my appreciation to all Team Phat members for their kind help, valuable suggestions, supervision, and support, including Dr. Y.Y. Shim, Dr. J. Shen, Ms. F.B. Nelson, Dr. R. Mustafa, Dr. S. Purdy, Dr. T. Tse, and Mr. D.J. Wiens. I also appreciate my friends for their support and encouragement during this research, including S. Shang, L. Cui, and S. Yu, as well as my colleagues for their encouragement and support during my time studying at the University of Saskatchewan.

I also wish to express my gratitude for the financial support from my supervisors, including the College of Engineering, Department of Chemical and Biological Engineering, and Saskatchewan Agriculture Development Fund during my graduate study and research.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, Ms. Xiao-hong Zhao and Mr. Chun-de He, as well as my boyfriend Mr. Xu-dong Wang for their unconditional love and support.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PERMISSION TO USEi
ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESviii
LIST OF EQUATIONSix
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
LIST OF SYMBOLS
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 Overview
1.2 Hypothesis
1.3 Objectives
2. LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Chickpea
2.2 Emulsification Principle
2.2.1 Thermodynamic Theory
2.2.2 Interaction Theory
2.4 Egg Replacement Composition and Emulsification Properties
2.4.1 Emulsifier Hydrophile-lipophile Balance
2.4.2 Egg Replacers
2.5 Aquafaba
2.5.1 AQ History
2.5.2 AQ Composition
2.5.3 AQ Physical Characteristics
2.5.4 AQ Functionality and Applications

2.5.4.1 Foamability	17
2.5.4.2 Emulsibility	19
2.5.4.3 Gelation	20
2.5.5 Challenges in AQ Application	20
2.6 Summary	21
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
3.1 Materials	22
3.2 Fresh AQ Preparation	22
3.3 AQ from Five Chickpea Cultivars	24
3.3.1 AQ Oil Emulsion Preparation	24
3.3.2 Emulsion Capacity	24
3.3.3 Emulsion Stability	25
3.4 Chickpea Physical Properties	
3.5 Chickpea Hydration Kinetics	26
3.6 Chickpea Chemical Properties	27
3.7 AQ Standardization	
3.7.1 Cooking Conditions	
3.7.2 Comparison of Drying Methods	
3.8 Statistical Analysis	
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS	
4.1 Aquafaba Produced from Different Chickpea Cultivars	
4.2 AQ Selection from Different Chickpea Cultivars	
4.2.1 AQ Emulsion Capacity	
4.2.2 AQ Emulsion Stability	
4.3 Chickpea Physical Properties	35
4.4 Hydration Kinetics	
4.5 Chickpea Chemical Properties	
4.6 Correlation Analysis	
4.7 AQ Standardization	40
4.7.1 Optimization of AQ Preparation	

4.7.2 Comparison of Drying Methods	44
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	48
6. FURTHER DIRECTIONS	
REFERENCES	51
APPENDIX A	67
Dried AQ dissolved in water to refresh AQ	67
APPENDIX B	68
Permission to reuse Figures and Tables from existing literatures	68

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Different carbohydrate fractions in chickpea seed. 4
Table 2.2 Composition of hen egg yolk. 9
Table 2.3 Proximate composition and saponin content of AQ. 14
Table 2.4 Minerals in AQ. 15
Table 2.5 Physicochemical properties of AQ. 16
Table 3.1 AQ preparation conditions. 28
Table 4.1 Physical and chemical characteristics of seed from five chickpea cultivars
Table 4.2 Kinetic constants of the nonlinear regression analysis for chickpea seed hydration 38
Table 4.3 Correlation coefficient among the sixteen physical, chemical, and hydration attributesfor the five chickpea cultivars and AQ yield, emulsion capacity, and emulsion stability.41
Table 4.4 Amount of water removed, drying time, and dried AQ yield of different dryingmethods for 100 g fresh AQ and water mass added to rehydrate AQ

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Potential energy of interaction versus distance of separation for van der Waals
attraction, electrostatic repulsion, and total interaction according to DLVO theory7
Figure 2.2 (A) SDS-PAGE separation of chickpea AQ protein; (B) Potential protein
identification per band14
Figure 2.3 Sponge cake prepared with egg white or AQ
Figure 2.4 Pictures of the meringues: (A) front view and (B) top view
Figure 3.1 Chickpea seed from five cultivars
Figure 3.2 (A) Programmable pressure cooker; (B) AQ drained from cooked chickpea seed; and (C) hand mixer
Figure 3.3 AQ-canola oil emulsion (A) before and (B) after centrifugation
Figure 3.4 (A) Freeze dryer with stoppering tray dryer; (B) spray dryer; (C) oven; (D) rotary evaporator; and (E) vacuum oven
Figure 4.1 Fresh AQ yield (g/100 g seed) prepared from different chickpea cultivars32
Figure 4.2 Moisture content (%) of fresh AQ prepared from different chickpea cultivars
Figure 4.3 AQ and chickpeas from different chickpea cultivars prepared in jars
Figure 4.4 AQ separated from chickpea seed
Figure 4.5 Emulsion capacity and stability of AQ prepared from different chickpea cultivars35
Figure 4.6 Chickpea seed water absorption kinetics
Figure 4.7 Emulsion capacity and stability of AQ prepared with CDC Leader using different cooking conditions. 43
Figure 4.8 AQ samples prepared by different drying methods
Figure 4.9 Emulsion capacity index and stability of AQ prepared with CDC Leader and dried by different drying methods
Figure A.1 Dried AQ dissolved in water to refresh AQ67

LIST OF EQUATIONS

Equation 2.1 The free energy of emulsion formation	6
Equation 3.1 Emulsion turbidity value	24
Equation 3.2 Emulsifying activity index (EAI)	24
Equation 3.3 The oil volume fraction of dispersed phase for EAI	24
Equation 3.4 Emulsion stability	25
Equation 3.5 Equivalent dimension	26
Equation 3.6 Specific surface area	26
Equation 3.7 Seed coat weight per surface	26
Equation 3.8 Hydration weight after soaking for time	27

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

А	Absorbance
AACC	American Association of Cereal Chemists
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
AOAC	Association of Official Analytical Chemists
AQ	Aquafaba
CDC	Crop Development Centre
сP	Centipoise
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DL	Detection limit
DLVO	Derjaguin and Landau; Verway and Overbeek theory
EC	Emulsion capacity
ED	Equivalent dimensions
EA	Emulsion activity
EAI	Emulsifying activity index
ES	Emulsion stability
HDL	High-density lipoproteins
HLB	Hydrophile-lipophile balance
HMW	High molecular weight
HSP	Heat shock protein
HSW	Hundred seed weight
LDL	Low-density lipoproteins
LEAP	Late embryogenesis abundant protein
LMW	Low molecular weight
ND	Not detected
OSA	Octenyl succinic anhydride
o/w	Oil in water
PC	Phosphatidylcholine
PLs	Phospholipids
SCI	Seed coat incidence

SD	Standard deviation
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulfate
SSA	Specific surface area
Т	Turbidity
tRNA	Transfer RNA
UV	Ultraviolet
Vis	Visible
w/o	Water in oil
WSA	Seed coat weight per surface area
WSC	Water-soluble carbohydrates

LIST OF SYMBOLS

ΔA	The increase in interfacial area of droplets
ΔG_{form}	The free energy of emulsion formation
Ø	Oil volume fraction of dispersed phase
р	Calculated probability
r	Pearson correlation coefficient
$T\Delta_{sconfig}$	The configurational entropy of emulsion droplets
γ	The interfacial tension

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview

Food oil emulsions are significant components of food. Mayonnaise is an edible food emulsion that has grown in popularity since early 1900's. Mayonnaise is a semi-solid oil-in-water (o/w) emulsion made from a mixture of egg yolk, edible vegetable oil, acetic or citric acid, and other ingredients such as salt, spice, natural sweetener, and various natural flavored ingredients (Harrison and Cunningham, 1985; Depree and Savage, 2001). Typically, mayonnaise oil content must be not less than 65% by weight, and the product should contain at least 2.5% acetic or citric acid by weight. The latter might be included in the form of vinegar or lemon juice.

Egg yolk is a typical ingredient in mayonnaise, though occasionally egg white has also been used in making this product as these egg components are efficient natural emulsifiers (Baldwin, 1977; Corran, 1943) for a variety of o/w emulsions. The high emulsifying capacity of egg is related to the phospholipids (PLs) (lecithin), lipoproteins (low-density lipoproteins, LDL, and high-density lipoproteins, HDL), and non-associated proteins (livetin and phosvitin) (Moros et al., 2002; Laca et al., 2010). These proteins have amphiphilic properties and act as surface-active substances (also known as surfactants) in multiphase systems, such as mayonnaise.

Unfortunately, egg is one of the most frequent causes of food allergies, especially in infants and young children (Park et al., 2017). Egg allergens are mainly present in egg white. Ovalbumin, constituting 54% of egg white protein (Park et al., 2017), is one of the major egg allergens (Duan et al., 2017; Abeyrathne et al., 2013). In addition, egg is not suitable for consumers with special dietary restrictions and those that cannot eat egg for religious reasons or personal lifestyle choices (Lin et al., 2017). Moreover, egg yolk contains cholesterol (5.2% of total lipids) which is linked to cardiovascular disease. Although a cholesterol limit is not mentioned in the 2015-2020 Dietary Guideline for Americans, it is still recommended that the elderly and people with previous incidents of heart disease limit dietary cholesterol intake (Lin et al., 2017). Furthermore, a segment of consumers cites environmental concerns related to egg production as a rationale to avoid egg

consumption (Janssen et al., 2016). Therefore, many scientists and food processing companies are developing innovative new egg replacements to cater to a growing demand for egg alternatives.

Aquafaba (AQ) is the viscous liquid resulting from cooking chickpea seed or other legumes in water. AQ has been gaining popularity since 2014, when a novel recipe blogger used the leftover liquid from a chickpea can as an egg replacement in vegan meringue (Révolution végétale, 2014). Due to its desirable foaming and emulsification properties, AQ is now widely used by the vegan community as an egg replacement in many food products such as mayonnaise, meringues, and baked goods. Chickpea AQ components have been identified by Shim et al. (2018). Its applications as a foaming agent have been reported in several studies (Stantiall et al., 2018; Mustafa et al., 2018). However, the substances conferring AQ egg-similar emulsion properties have not been fully elucidated. Meanwhile, AQ qualities differ among diverse cooking conditions and legume genotypes. Therefore, chickpea cultivar selection and AQ process standardization are required to assure the quality of both AQ and AQ-based emulsion.

1.2 Hypothesis

Based on previous studies and AQ functional properties, the central hypothesis of this research is that AQ emulsion properties not only differ among chickpea cultivars, cooking conditions and drying methods, but also have correlations with chickpea seed components and physicochemical properties.

1.3 Objectives

The primary objective of this study is to select AQ made from a desirable chickpea cultivar to produce food oil emulsions and standardize the AQ production process.

The specific goals of this study are as follows:

- 1) to determine which chickpea cultivar produces AQ with the best emulsion properties;
- to determine grain composition and physicochemical properties of the different chickpea cultivars used in this study;
- 3) to determine correlations among AQ emulsion properties, chickpea composition, and chickpea physicochemical properties; and
- to standardize the conditions for AQ preparation and compare the influences of different commercial drying methods on AQ emulsion properties.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Chickpea

Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.), also called garbanzo bean or Bengal gram, is traditionally cultivated on marginal lands in arid and semi-arid regions of the world (Vineeth et al., 2016; Rao et al., 2002). Chickpea annual global production is 14.0 million tonnes (FAOSTAT, 2017) making it the fourth most important legume crop as a source for protein. India, the largest producer, contributes about 70% of the world's total production and is also the greatest consumer. Canada is the tenth largest producer and produced 12,300 tonnes in 2014 (FAOSTAT, 2017). Based on the seed size and colour, there are two major commercial classes of cultivated chickpea: Desi (Indian origin) and Kabuli (the Mediterranean and Middle Eastern origin). Kabuli cultivars produce white to cream-yellow colour seed that is used widely as cooked whole seed, whereas the Desi cultivar seed can be brown, fawn, orange, or green and is wrinkled at the beak (Chavan et al., 1989). Desi types account for 80-85% of the total chickpea area and are more tolerant to abiotic stress than Kabuli types (Vineeth et al., 2016).

Chickpea is an essential legume crop cultivated worldwide as a rich source of carbohydrate and protein. It is an essential food for growing populations, especially in developing countries. It has also been widely used as green manure and animal fodder (Ahmad et al., 2016). Carbohydrate and protein constitute about 80% of chickpea seed dry mass (Wood, 2010; Geervani, 1991). It has little cholesterol, and is a good source of dietary fibre (DF) (18-22 g/100 g of raw chickpea seed) (Aguilera et al., 2009b; Tosh and Yada, 2010), minerals (Ca, Mg, P and K) and vitamins (riboflavin, niacin, thiamin, folate and β-carotene; Wood and Grusak, 2007; Jukanti et al., 2012). Chickpea major carbohydrates are presented in Table 2.1. Some monosaccharides have also been reported (Sánchez-Mata et al., 1998), including ribose (0.13 g/100 g), fructose (0.26 g/100 g), glucose (0.065 g/100 g), and galactose (0.05 g/100 g). Maltose (0.60%) and sucrose (1.0-2.0%) are the most abundant free chickpea disaccharides (Wood and Grusak, 2007).

Furthermore, a-galactosides account for about 63% of chickpea total sugar content (Sánchez-

Mata et al., 1998) with ciceritol and stachyose constituting 36-43% and 25%, respectively, of total sugar in chickpea seed (Sánchez-Mata et al., 1998; Aguilera et al., 2009b). Starch is the main chickpea storage polysaccharide (Wood and Grusak, 2007). Its content varies from 41 to 50% of total carbohydrate (Pearson et al., 1981; Dalgetty and Baik, 2003; Özer et al., 2010). About 35% of total starch is resistant starch while the remainder 65% is available starch (Özer et al., 2010; Aguilera et al., 2009b).

Carbohydrates	Åman (1979) ^{‡§}	Wang and Daun (2	004)*	Han and Baik (2006) [†]	Aguilera et al.	
5		Kabuli Desi		Kabuli	(2009b) ^{s⊪}	
Starch	-	41.1 (38.2-43.9)	36.4 (33.1-40.4)	-	51.9	
Sucrose	4.3	3.8 (3.10-4.41)	2.0 (1.56-2.85)	-	15.2	
Raffinose	1.00	0.6 (0.48-0.73)	0.5 (0.46-0.77)	50.2	3.2	
Stachyose	2.8	2.2 (1.76-2.72)	1.6 (1.25-1.98)	27	17.7	
Verbascose	Traces	-	-	ND	-	
Ciceritol	-	-	-	67.7	27.6	
Fructose	0.1	-	-	-	3.1	
Galactose	-	-	-	-	0.1	
Galactinol	0.5	-	-	-	-	
Glucose	0.1	-	-	-	0.5	
Maltose	-	-	-	-	3.3	
Manninotriose	3.4	-	-	-	-	
Pinitol	0.2	-	-	-	-	

Table 2.1 Different carbohydrate fractions in chickpea seed (Jukanti et al., 2012).

- not measured. ND not detected.

*Expressed as g/100 g dry weight. Number in parentheses indicate a range.

[†]Expressed as mg/g.

[‡]Expressed as a percentage of raw seed dry weight.

[§]The type of chickpea is not specified.

Expressed as g/kg.

Chickpea protein content was reported to be 207 g/kg as an average of eight annual wild

species (Ocampo et al., 1998). Ashur et al. (1973) and Jukanti et al. (2012) demonstrated that chickpea meets individual adult requirements for all essential amino acids except for sulphur-rich amino acids methionine and cystine.

Chickpea oil content varies from 3.8 to 10% (Singh, 1985; Gül et al., 2008). Chickpea oil has linoleic acid, oleic acid, tocopherols, sterols and tocotrienols (Zia-Ul-Haq et al., 2007), with major sterols being sitosterol (73-76% of phytosterols) and campesterol (12-14% of phytosterols), and α -tocopherol (8.2 mg/100 g) being the major tocol (Muhammad Zia-ul-HAQ, 2009).

Two important phenolic compounds found in chickpea seed are the isoflavones biochanin A (5,7-dihydroxy-4'-methoxyisoflavone) and formononetin (7-hydroxy-4'-methoxyisoflavone) (Wood and Grusak, 2007). The concentration of biochanin A in Kabuli-type seed (1420-3080 μ g/100 g) is higher than that in Desi-type seed (838 μ g/100 g) (Mazur et al., 1998). The amount of formononetin in Kabuli- and Desi-type seed is 215 μ g/100 g and 94-126 μ g/100 g, respectively (Mazur et al., 1998).

Additionally, due to its content of vitamins, minerals, and bioactive compounds (phytates, phenolic compounds, oligosaccharides, enzyme inhibitors, etc.) chickpea might impart several potential health benefits such as protecting against cardiovascular disease (CVD), type 2 diabetes, digestive disease, and some forms of cancer (Jukanti et al., 2012).

2.2 Emulsification Principle

An emulsion is a two-phase system of immiscible liquids (Lynch and Griffin, 1974). One phase is often in the form of finely divided droplets with diameters generally larger than 0.1 μ m (Becher, 1957). This dispersed, internal, or discontinuous phase is suspended in the continuous, or external phase. A high internal-phase-ratio emulsion, such as mayonnaise, is formed when the internal phase volume is greater than that of the external phase. Food emulsion systems are generally divided into two categories: oil-in-water (o/w) emulsions and water-in-oil (w/o) emulsions. Mayonnaise is a typical o/w emulsion which means it consists of oil droplets dispersed throughout a mostly aqueous medium.

Food emulsifiers have an amphiphilic nature so they can absorb at the interface between oil and water phases to form an interfacial film around droplets, thus lower the oil/water interfacial tension and impart emulsion stability (Das and Kinsella, 1990). Two models, based on thermodynamics and interactions, have been developed to describe mechanisms of emulsification.

2.2.1 Thermodynamic Theory

Energy is required for emulsion formation to disperse one phase into the other. During dispersion, the total droplet interfacial area increases, and energy creates a new interfacial area. The free energy of emulsion formation (ΔG_{form}) is represented by Equation 2.1 (Tadros and Vincent, 1983; Chattoraj and Bridi, 1984):

Equation 2.1 The free energy of emulsion formation

$\Delta G_{form} = \gamma \Delta A - T \Delta S_{config}$

in which, γ is the interfacial tension, ΔA is the increase in interfacial area of droplets, and $T\Delta S_{config}$ is the configurational entropy of emulsion droplets.

For an o/w emulsion, droplet interfacial area is much larger than initial surface area of unemulsified oil, i.e., ΔA is very large, $\gamma \Delta A$ becomes larger than $T\Delta S_{config}$, and ΔG_{form} is positive. Emulsion systems are thermodynamically unstable due to this excess energy. Therefore, the systems tend to reduce energy by decreasing total surface area to a minimum, usually by one or more mechanisms. Due to the large fat content in mayonnaise, coalescence is a primary problem for emulsion stability (Jaynes, 1985).

2.2.2 Interaction Theory

Generally, attractive forces tend to destabilize emulsions whereas repulsive forces impart stability. Derjaguin and Landau (1941) and Venway and Overbeek (1948) independently developed the DLVO (Derjaguin Landau Venway Overbeek) theory to explain the basic theory of emulsion stability. Several interactions cooperate within emulsion systems to determine both thermodynamic and kinetic stability: 1) van der Waals interaction (attractive); 2) electrostatic interaction (repulsive); 3) steric interaction (repulsive); 4) hydration force (repulsive); and 5) miscellaneous interactions.

A schematic representation of the potential DLVO theory is shown in Figure 2.1. It can be observed that the emulsified system needs to pass through an energy barrier to reach the minimum energy state described in thermodynamic theory. The higher the energy barrier, the slower the loss of interfacial surface area, and the better the emulsion stability.

Although emulsions are thermodynamically unstable systems, it is necessary to have reasonable stability (weeks to months) for food use. Food emulsion stability declines with time. In

order to predict food stability in the development of food products, experimentation is necessary to practically assess emulsion stability. Stability requirements vary among different food emulsions. Mayonnaise emulsions, for example, are expected to remain stable for over a year. Long-term stability is usually provided by employing macromolecules, such as proteins and polysaccharides (Dickinson et al., 1988; Charalambous and Doxastakis, 1989).



Figure 2.1 Potential energy of interaction versus distance of separation for van der Waals attraction, electrostatic repulsion, and total interaction according to DLVO theory (Parker and Krog, 1987 with permission).

Emulsifiers and stabilizers can be added to increase emulsion stability through several mechanisms (Nawar, 1985). The main mechanism of increased emulsion stability is the reduction of interfacial tension by emulsifiers. The emulsifier joins the oily and aqueous phases of an emulsion into a homogeneous and stable preparation (Waginaire, 1997). Addition of an emulsifier reduces surface tension at an oil-water interface and increases emulsion stability. An emulsifier contains two portions: the lipophilic (oil-loving) portion and a hydrophilic (water-loving) portion. These two portions orient themselves with the emulsion oil or water phase and form a shell around dispersed phase droplets. In this way, emulsifiers prevent dispersed droplets from coalescing and separating, thus increasing emulsion stability (Lynch and Griffin, 1974). The other mechanisms

imparted by emulsifiers and stabilizers are as followed: 1) the repulsive force between droplets with similar surface electrical charge; 2) the formation of mesophases or liquid-crystalline phases which provide the most stable configuration for a specified set of conditions; 3) the inclusion of macromolecules or particulate materials, such as gum and protein, can interact with emulsion components to substantially increase its viscosity and stability.

Conditions present when an emulsion is formed influence emulsion stability. For example, emulsion constituents, emulsifier concentration, emulsion temperature, and emulsifier physical state (crystalline versus fluid) are all critical in determining its stability. The order of addition of constituents can also affect emulsion stability (Friberg and Mandell, 1970). Additionally, the nature of internal and continuous phases is also a crucial factor. For example, it has been found that emulsions prepared with unsaturated fatty acid-based emulsifiers and unsaturated triglyceride oil, or with saturated emulsifiers and saturated triglyceride oil, are more stable than those prepared with emulsifiers and oil with intermediate or mixed saturation (Garti and Remon, 1984).

2.3 Egg Composition and Emulsification Properties

Egg is a natural and efficient o/w emulsifier for a variety of emulsions (Baldwin, 1977; Corran, 1943). Egg is regarded as the most critical ingredient in mayonnaise due to its high emulsifying capacity and stability (Nikzade et al., 2012). Its performance is related to phospholipids (lecithin), lipoproteins (low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and high-density lipoproteins (HDL)), and non-associated proteins (livetin and phosvitin) (Moros et al., 2002; Laca et al., 2010).

The major lipid classes in yolk are triglycerides (62%), phospholipids (33%), and cholesterol (less than 5%). "Lecithin" is class of amphiphilic phospholipid substances that contains phosphatidylcholine (PC) as its major component when obtained from egg yolk (Wabel, 1998). In commercial practice, the term "lecithin" refers to a mixture of phospholipids, including PC and other entrained substances such as triglycerides and minor co-extracted lipids. Lecithin is widely used as an emulsifier in the food industry because of its ability to act as a surfactant in multiphase systems, such as mayonnaise. Phospholipids are amphiphilic molecules built on a glycerol structure which contain one hydrophilic head group substituent (a phosphoric acid) and one or two hydrophobic ester substituents (typically fatty acids). The phosphorous can be attached to other moieties such as choline, serine, ethanolamine, and inositol. These molecules can diffuse to interfaces between immiscible phases, orienting the hydrophobic tail to the non-polar lipid phase

and the hydrophilic head to the aqueous polar phase. In the presence of phospholipids, the interfacial tension decreases at oil-water interfaces thereby developing stable emulsions even though mechanical energy is applied to the system after emulsification (Huopalahti et al., 2013).

The interactions between lipid and protein can result in the formation of lipoprotein structures, which are the main constituents of egg yolk (McCully et al., 1962). The composition of egg yolk as a portion of dry matter is shown in Table 2.2 (Powrie and Nakaï, 1986).

	Yolk dry matter (%)	Yolk lipids (%)	Yolk proteins (%)	Lipids (%)	Proteins (%)
Yolk	100	100	100	64	32
Plasma	78	93	53	73	25
LDL	66	61	22	88	10
Livetins	10	-	30	-	96
Others	2	-	1	-	90
Granules	22	7	47	31	64
HDL	16	6	35	25	75
Phosvitin	4	-	11	-	95
LDLg	2	1	1	88	10

Table 2.2 Composition of hen egg yolk (Powrie and Nakai, 1986).

LDLg - LDL in granules.

Research has shown that LDL fraction can play a primary role in the formation and stabilization of yolk-based emulsions. The LDL fraction is comprised of large spherical particles (~35 nm diameter) with a core of triglyceride, cholesterol, and cholesteryl ester surrounded by a layer of apolipoprotein and phospholipid (Martin et al., 1964). Apolipoprotein is a major molecular class among LDL components and can adsorb at the oil-water interface (Kiosseoglou and Sherman, 1983a; Mizutani and Nakamura, 1984). Anton et al. (2003) extracted LDL from egg yolk and concluded that apolipoprotein showed a high proportion of amphipathic α -helix chains, explaining its capacity to absorb at the oil-water interface in emulsion due to the amphipathic character and flexibility.

Proteins, which constitute most of the interfacial film, have two primary functions in emulsion formation. First, protein could adsorb at the oil-water interface, thereby causing a substantial

decrease in interfacial tension. Secondly, they could form a mechanical barrier due to protein film viscoelastic properties, which protects against disruption. With these properties, proteins can control the colloidal interactions between coated oil droplets, thus having the potential to regulate aggregation and flocculation (Anton et al., 2003).

Molecular flexibility, solubility, and hydrophobicity are critical factors influencing protein impact on emulsions (Graham and Phillips, 1979; Kinsella, 1979; Nakai, 1983). Sell et al. (1935) also concluded that emulsification properties of egg yolk are not just due to one compound such as lecithin, but also determined by an unstable complex of lecithin and protein termed "lecithoprotein".

2.4 Egg Replacement Composition and Emulsification Properties

Many food emulsions, such as mayonnaise and salad dressing, have long used egg as an emulsifier. Nevertheless, due to egg allergies, specific dietary choices (e.g., vegan and vegetarian lifestyles), health considerations (e.g., limitation of dietary cholesterol) and environmental concerns consumers are searching for egg replacements. The egg replacement market, which includes products like pea protein, is estimated to reach 34.8 million USD by 2020 (Research and Markets, 2015). Many studies have identified effective egg replacements in different food products. Here we only discuss egg replacements as emulsifiers in food emulsions.

2.4.1 Emulsifier Hydrophile-lipophile Balance

Emulsifier performance is determined by the chemical composition and the ionization extent. As there are several important aspects of emulsifier performance, it is possible to select superior emulsifiers for specific applications based on the hydrophile-lipophile balance (HLB) value. These values range from 1 to 20 where w/o emulsions are formed by emulsifiers with lipophilic properties whose HLB number is below 9. Conversely, o/w emulsions are best formed with more hydrophilic emulsifiers with HLB numbers from 11 to 20. An intermediate HLB value, from 9 to 11, is classified as intermediate (Lynch and Griffin, 1974). The chemistry of the triglyceride oil used in forming emulsions interacts with the emulsifier and, therefore, the selection of HLB value is dependent on both the oil and emulsifier. For example, emulsifiers with HLB numbers from 7 to 12 are chosen to form o/w emulsions with corn or soybean oils, while an emulsifier with an HLB number of 5 will form an o/w emulsion with cottonseed oil (Powrie and Tung, 1976).

2.4.2 Egg Replacers

The emulsification properties of whey protein, lactoglobulins, and casein have been extensively investigated (McClements et al., 1993; Dickinson and Yamamoto, 1996). Moreover, some vegetable based materials stabilize food emulsions (McWatters and Holmes, 1979). Ghazaei et al. (2015) evaluated a reduced-fat mayonnaise formulation in which egg yolk was partially replaced with octenyl succinic anhydride (OSA)-modified potato starch. Such hybrid products had lower cholesterol content than egg yolk, but 100% substitution of egg yolk produced products with poor consistency and sensory scores compared to control mayonnaise products. Substitution of egg in mayonnaise with up to 50% soy milk produced products with similar viscosity, stability, and acceptability as a control sample containing only whole egg as an emulsifier (Kobra, 2014). Ghoush et al. (2008) employed iota-carrageenan and wheat protein as an emulsifier alternative to egg yolk in mayonnaise. This emulsifier alternative could replace 75% egg without significant changes on mayonnaise physicochemical properties including viscosity and stability. Nikzade et al. (2012) completely replace egg yolk and produced mayonnaise products with reduced cholesterol and fat by exploiting the interaction of gums (guar and xanthan) with soy milk and mono- and diglycerides. The product had similar characteristics when compared to full-fat mayonnaise prepared with egg yolk. In another approach, Raymundo et al. (2002) produced stable lupin protein-stabilized emulsions with xanthan gum. This emulsion had comparable properties to commercial brand mayonnaise. This literature indicates that replacing egg in food emulsions requires other thickening agents such as xanthan gum, guar gum, and glycerides.

2.5 Aquafaba

Aquafaba (AQ) is the viscous liquid remaining that can be drained from cooked chickpea or other legumes. In normal cooking this liquid is discarded. It is often suggested that AQ is therefore an inexpensive liquid resource that is readily obtained from canned or pressure-cooked chickpea. In the first report of AQ (Révolution végétale, 2014), it was described as a foaming agent that could replace egg white. AQ is predominately water (90-95%), which contains carbohydrate, protein and small molecules dissolved while chickpea seed is cooked. Chickpea polysaccharide, protein and small molecules found in AQ afford solutions with many functional properties that can produce stable foams, emulsions, gels, and thickened solutions. There are many reports of AQ in family recipes to replace egg and make fluffy food products, such as mayonnaise, meringue, mousse,

pudding, vegan cakes and whipped cream. More and more people recognize AQ as an effective egg replacer. AQ is not only an inexpensive and accessible resources that can be used as a cholesterol-free egg replacement, it also provides significant utility to the vegan community because it increases food options for vegans, such as eggless vegan cake, vegan mayonnaise, and vegan cream. Moreover, people who have an egg allergy might also benefit from AQ, as it affords more food product options, and at the same time avoids the risk of egg allergy.

2.5.1 AQ History

Pulses are usually steeped in water to hydrate the seed, then cooked by either boiling seed in water or cooking in a pressure cooker to soften the seed and improve digestibility. This process generates large volumes of liquid waste that requires treatment before it can be discarded. The viscous liquid waste separated from canned or pressured-cooked chickpea or other legumes such as pea and lentil has found new utility as the product now called aquafaba. AQ was initially described by Joël Roessel as a foaming agent to replace egg white in meringue (Révolution végétale, 2014). He produced AQ with red kidney bean. After Joël's discovery, Goose Wohlt, a software engineer in the US, optimized a vegan meringue recipe prepared with AQ, and posted his recipe to a vegan Facebook[®] page, What Fat Vegans Eat in February 2015 (Aquafaba, 2016). Since then, people's enthusiasm for AQ was ignited. Many AQ fans posted their recipes through social media such as YouTube[®] and Facebook[®]. For example, a new Facebook group was created titled: "Vegan Meringues – Hits and Misses!" especially for sharing AQ recipes and food products. AQ food pictures and recipes are now available on worldwide via the internet.

2.5.2 AQ Composition

AQ compositions consist of water (94%), carbohydrate (4%), protein (1.3%) and ash (0.6%). Shim et al. (2018) investigated AQ compositions recovered from 10 commercial canned chickpea products. AQ moisture content ranged from 93.0% to 95.1%. AQ carbon and protein content as a portion of dry matter ranged from 31.3% to 39.2% and 22.8% to 26.8%, respectively. The authors also identified proteins present in AQ (Figure 2.2). Stantiall et al. (2018) and Serventi et al. (2018) analyzed chemical compositions of AQ from haricot bean, garbanzo chickpea, whole green lentil, split yellow pea, and soybean (Table 2.3). AQ dry matter ranged from 3.28 g/100 g to 5.59 g/100 g. Similar concentrations of water-soluble carbohydrate (WSC) were measured (average 1 g/100 g

AQ) except for whole green lentil (0.61 g/100 g AQ), and yellow soybean (1.66 g/100 g AQ). The majority of WSC was low molecular weight (LMW) carbohydrate such as sugars. Based on the pulse origin of these materials, LMW carbohydrate should consist of sucrose, raffinose, and stachyose (Mokni et al., 2015; Bach, 1997). High molecular weight (HMW) carbohydrate present in AQ was largely regarded to be soluble fibre. Insoluble fibre can constitute a significant portion of the dry matter of AQ made from pulses (0.93 g/100 g haricot bean AQ to 2.46 g/100 g yellow soybean AQ). Based on previous studies, insoluble fibre is likely to be mostly hemicellulose (Önning et al., 1994; Vasishtha and Srivastava, 2013). Starch was not detected by the iodine test in any AQ preparations.

Α			B				
170		100000	_	Gel	Protein name	MW(kDa)	Accession No.
130	1		1	1a	tRNA (Cytosine-5-)-methyltransferase	92.9	A0A163M953
70	- Lease		۰.	1b	O-acyltransferase	92.1	A0A163IUM5
55	(Canada			2a	Provicilin	51.5	Q304D4
40	-		2	2b	Legumin	56.7	Q9SMJ4
~	-	and the second second		3a	Uncharacterized protein	36.0	A0A163HIE9
25	-	- Alexandra - Alexandra	3	3b	Oxidoreductase	36.3	A0A163HIE9
33	- The second		4	4	Dehydrin 1	20.4	Q8GUS4
	P.S.	in more commenced		5	LEAP 2	16.7	O49817
25	1000			6	LEAP 2	16.7	O49817
				7a	LEAP 2	16.7	049817
- I		numannan s	5	7b	LEAP 4	15.7	E7BSD7
- I			6	7c	Superoxide dismutase [Cu-Zn]	15.3	Q9ZNQ4
1				7d	LEAP	13.2	A0A076KXB6
15	ALC: NO	automostica attant		8a	LEAP	13.2	A0A076KXB6
			1	8b	Superoxide dismutase [Cu-Zn]	15.3	Q9ZNQ4
		AUTOMATIN	8	8c	LEAP 4	15.7	E7BSD7
		1	9	8d	18.5 kDa class I HSP (Fragment)	10.1	A0A0B5Z4W5
				8e	Histone H3	15.4	A0A163J7K4
				8f	LEAP 2	16.7	O49817
10	1.12.12	0	8g	Histone H2B	14.9	A0A163DU27	
10		Contraction of the second	4	8h	Histone H2AX	14.6	O65759
				9a	LEAP	13.2	A0A076KXB6
		A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OF THE		9b	18.5 kDa class I HSP (Fragment)	10.1	A0A0B5Z4W5
kDa				9c	Putative Pi starvation-induced protein	13.9	O65757
	Marker Juice protein			10a	18.5 kDa class I HSP (Fragment)	10.1	A0A0B5Z4W5
	IVIDI NEI	20 ug		10b	Non-specific lipid-transfer protein	13.8	A0A076KXC0
		20.08	_	11	Defensin	8.8	Q2I2W0

Figure 2.2 (A) SDS-PAGE separation of chickpea AQ protein; (B) Potential protein identification per band. LEAP = late embryogenesis abundant protein, HSP = heat shock protein (Shim et al., 2018 with permission).

Nutritional information	Haricot bean	Garbanzo chickpea	Whole green lentil	Split yellow pea	Yellow soybean
Dry matter (g/100 g)	$3.28\pm0.5^{\rm d}$	$5.13\pm0.02^{\rm a}$	4.69 ± 0.02^{b}	$4.41\pm0.18^{\rm c}$	$5.59\pm0.10^{\text{a}}$
LMW (g/100 g)	$0.73\pm0.03^{\text{c}}$	$1.20\pm0.02^{\text{a}}$	$0.54\pm0.03^{\rm d}$	$1.02\pm0.03^{\rm b}$	1 ((+ 0.02
HMW (g/100 g)	$0.16\pm0.20^{\rm a}$	$0.04\pm0.00^{\rm c}$	$0.07\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	$0.09\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	1.00 ± 0.03
Insoluble fibre (g/100 g)	$0.93\pm0.05^{\rm d}$	$2.37\pm0.02^{\rm a}$	$2.09\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	$1.63\pm0.18^{\rm c}$	$2.46\pm0.10^{\rm a}$
Protein (g/100 g)	$0.70\pm0.00^{\text{d}}$	$0.95\pm0.01^{\circ}$	$1.51\pm0.01^{\rm a}$	$1.27\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	$0.68\pm0.00^{\rm d}$
Fat (g/100 g)	< DL				
Ash (g/100 g)	$0.75\pm0.03^{\text{a}}$	$0.57\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$0.48\pm0.00^{\rm c}$	$0.40\pm0.00^{\rm d}$	$0.78\pm0.02^{\rm a}$
Saponins (mg/g)	$5.9\pm0.5^{\text{b}}$	$4.5\pm0.6^{\text{b}}$	12 ± 1^{a}	4.7 ± 0.4^{b}	$6.4\pm0.6^{\text{b}}$

Table 2.3 Proximate composition and saponin content of AQ (Serventi et al., 2018; Stantiall et al.,2018).

The acronyms LMW and HMW refer to water-soluble carbohydrates and refer to low molecular weight and high molecular weight, respectively. Only total water-soluble carbohydrates were measured for yellow soybean. The symbol < DL means below the detection limit. Different letters in the same row show a significant difference (P < 0.05) between measurements in the same row.

The protein content of AQ preparations ranged from 0.68 g/100 g for AQ prepared from yellow soybean to 1.51 g/100 g for AQ from whole green lentil. Fat was not detected in any AQ preparations. Total ash content ranged from 0.40 g/100 g (split yellow pea AQ) to 0.78 g/100 g (yellow soybean AQ; Stantiall et al. 2018). Previous studies of mineral loss from soybean after boiling support these findings (Tarafdar and Yadav, 2008). This study identified significant losses of calcium (from 2800 to 2400 mg/kg), magnesium (from 1300 to 1100 mg/kg) and iron (from 0.34 to 0.31 mg/kg) in soybean. Damian et al. (2018) determined AQ mineral composition (Table 2.4). Calcium was present in all AQ preparations (3.1-7.5 mg/100 g AQ). Potassium concentration ranged from 105 mg/100 g for whole green lentil AQ to 210 mg/100 g for haricot bean AQ. Garbanzo chickpea AQ had considerable concentrations of magnesium (24 mg/100 g AQ) and

phosphorous (37 mg/100 g AQ). Whole green lentil AQ contained a 30 mg/100 g sulfur. In addition, other minerals detected in AQ at lower concentrations included copper, iron, manganese, sodium, and zinc. For example, yellow soybean AQ contained 9.6 mg/100 g of calcium, 319 mg/100 g of potassium, 38 mg/100 g of magnesium, and 1.3 mg/100 g of iron.

Mineral content (mg/100 g AQ)	Haricot bean	Garbanzo chickpea	Whole green lentil	Split yellow pea
Ca	$7.5\pm0.1^{\mathrm{a}}$	6.2 ± 0.0^{b}	$4.3\pm0.1^{\rm c}$	3.1 ± 0.0^{d}
Cr	< DL	< DL	< DL	< DL
Cu	0.06 ± 0.00^{d}	$0.10\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	$0.17\pm0.00^{\rm a}$	$0.09\pm0.00^{\rm c}$
Fe	$0.73\pm0.00^{\rm a}$	$0.60\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$0.72\pm0.03^{\rm a}$	$0.51\pm0.01^{\text{c}}$
Κ	210 ± 1^{a}	193 ± 2^{b}	$169\pm2^{\rm c}$	105 ± 2^{d}
Mg	$24\pm0^{\rm a}$	$18\pm0^{\text{b}}$	$14\pm0^{\rm c}$	10 ± 0^{d}
Mn	$0.06\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	0.11 ± 0.00^{a}	$0.06\pm0.00^{\rm c}$	$0.04\pm0.00^{\rm d}$
Мо	$0.01\pm0.00^{\text{c}}$	$0.04\pm0.00^{\rm a}$	$0.01\pm0.00^{\text{b}}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{\rm d}$
Na	$0.72\pm0.00^{\text{c}}$	$4.6\pm0.03^{\rm a}$	$0.75\pm0.01^{\text{c}}$	0.96 ± 0.01^{b}
Р	$37\pm0^{\rm a}$	$33\pm0^{\rm c}$	$36\pm0^{\text{b}}$	25 ± 0^d
S	$18\pm0^{\rm c}$	$21\pm0^{\text{b}}$	$30\pm0^{\rm a}$	$18\pm0^{\rm c}$
Zn	0.13 ± 0.00^{d}	$0.19\pm0.00^{\text{c}}$	$0.28\pm0.00^{\rm a}$	0.22 ± 0.00^{b}

Table 2.4 Minerals in AQ (Damian et al., 2018; Serventi et al., 2018).

< DL - below the detection limit.

The concentration of AQ phenolic compounds was 0.3-0.7 mg/mL (Damian et al., 2018), which is comparable to a previous study with similar cooking treatments: boiling time 60 min for lentil (0.84 mg/g) and 90 min for the other pulses (0.51 mg/g, 0.56 mg/g, and 0.70 mg/g for green pea, yellow pea, and chickpea, respectively) (Xu and Chang, 2008).

Previous research has shown that chickpea saponin is reduced 44-52% by boiling (El-Adawy, 2002), while in lentils, the saponin content only decreased by 6-14% (Ruiz et al., 1996). In Stantiall et al.'s (2018) study, the average AQ saponin content was 5 mg/ g except for whole green lentils (12 mg/g). Later, Damian et al. (2018) identified the accuracy with a different analytical procedure and updated AQ saponins content to 8-14 mg/mL (equal to 0.8-1.4%, w/w). Serventi et al. (2018) determined that yellow soybeans AQ saponin content was 6.4 mg/g. High saponin content in food can lead to toxicity and hemolytic activity. Conversely, these phytochemicals at lower levels can have health-promoting properties, such as reducing blood cholesterol level, blood lipid level, and

improving blood glucose responses (Barakat et al., 2015; Singh et al., 2017). They have antioxidant properties and can decrease the risk of some cancers (Barakat et al., 2015).

Legumes often contain anti-nutritional factors, such as trypsin and chymotrypsin inhibitors, oligosaccharides, lectin and tannin (Lyimo et al., 1992; Muzquiz et al., 1999), which are compounds that can interfere with nutrient absorption. During AQ preparation, presoaking dry legumes in water can reduce the concentration of components that are partly or entirely solubilized in the soaking solution. Soluble molecules including sugars (sucrose, raffinose), α -galactosides, minerals, phytic acid, and proteolytic enzyme inhibitors (Frias et al., 2000a; Frias et al., 2000b) are partially removed. Cooking could destroy or inactivate some heat-sensitive anti-nutritional factors, including trypsin inhibitors, and decrease phytic acid and α -galactoside content (Iyer et al., 1989; Chau et al., 1997; Frias et al., 2000a; Frias et al., 2000b).

2.5.3 AQ Physical Characteristics

AQ physical properties, including pH, density, and viscosity, were analyzed by Serventi et al. (2018) and Stantiall et al. (2018) (Table 2.5). Overall, AQ was slightly acidic with pH ranging from 6.07 to 6.47 whereas its density ranged from 1.02 g/mL for haricot bean to 1.25 g/mL for yellow soybean. The viscosity of AQ from different legumes varied significantly amongst the samples prepared. For instance, the viscosity of garbanzo chickpea AQ was 47 ± 1 mPa*s, whereas haricot bean AQ was only 4.5 ± 2 mPa*s. Insoluble fibre content was positively correlated with AQ viscosity as this insoluble fibre (cellulose, pectin) can increase solution viscosity (Hüttner and Arendt, 2010). Density and viscosity of AQ from commercially canned chickpea ranged from 1009 kg/m³ to 1180 kg/m³, and 5.7 cP to 114.2 cP, respectively (Shim et al., 2018). Additionally, yellow soybean AQ water- and oil-absorption capacities were also determined (Serventi et al., 2018). High oil absorption capacity (2.68 \pm 0.04 g oil/g sample) and moderate water absorption capacity (1.54 \pm 0.32 g water/g sample) were observed, showing potential for this AQ to be used as thickening agent in a high fat matrix.

able 2.5 Physicochemica	il properties o	of AQ (Servent	i et al., 2018; Stantia	all et al., 2018).

Physicochemical properties	Haricot bean	Garbanzo chickpea	Whole green lentil	Split yellow pea	Yellow soybean	Egg white
pН	6.07±0.01 ^d	6.26±0.06 ^c	6.47±0.03 ^b	6.39±0.05 ^{bc}	6.07±0.01 ^d	9.20±0.09ª

Density (g/mL)	1.017 ± 0.002^{b}	1.020±0.002°	1.025±0.003°	1.021±0.005°	1.25±0.00 ^a	1.040±0.004b
Viscosity (mPa*s)	4.5±2.0 ^d	47±1ª	25±2 ^b	8.7±1.2 ^d	45±9ª	15±2°
Foaming ability (%)	39±2 ^b	58±7 ^b	97±6 ^b	93±12 ^b	65±2 ^b	400±49 ^a

^{a-d} Significant differences in data (P < 0.05) in each row are indicated by superscripted letters.

2.5.4 AQ Functionality and Applications

Systems that contain AQ are foamable, gelable, and emulsible. This functionality makes AQ a potential candidate to replace egg in many food recipes, such as meringue, mayonnaise, vegan cakes, and mousses.

2.5.4.1 Foamability

Dry AQ is mainly carbohydrate (sugars, soluble and insoluble fibre) and protein (Stantiall et al., 2018). Soaking and cooking chickpea seed extracts sugars, and the sugar concentration subsequently decreases with cooking (El-Adawy, 2002). The extracted soluble sugars include reducing sugars, sucrose, raffinose, stachyose, and verbascose (Mokni et al., 2015). The water-soluble carbohydrates from chickpea seed can form stable foams (Alajaji and El-Adawy, 2006). Protein can also diffuse from chickpea seed during soaking and cooking (Cherian et al., 2012). Protein has an amphiphilic structure that can contribute to foamability. Proteins can have many hydrophilic amino acids that interact with water, whereas the hydrophobic amino acids can stabilize interactions with the gaseous phase (Mariotti et al., 2013). AQ foaming capacity has a strong positive correlation with protein content ($r^2 = 0.95$) (Stantiall et al., 2018). AQ has saponins that can also produce foam due to their amphipathic nature and stabilize the incorporation of gas into aqueous solutions (Klamczynska et al., 2001; Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007).

Foaming agents have been widely used in sponge cake, meringue, and mousse to afford food with a fluffy texture (Liu et al., 2009). A foam forms when the gas phase is dispersed within a liquid phase by energy from whipping, shaking, or other means of agitation (Wilde and Clarke, 1996). Mustafa et al. (2018) produced eggless sponge cake using AQ as an egg white replacement (Figure 2.3). The colour and texture of AQ sponge cake were similar to those of sponge cake made with egg white. The AQ sponge cake was less springy, and less cohesive than egg white cake. Stantiall et al. (2018) investigated the foaming properties of AQ of haricot bean, garbanzo chickpea,

whole green lentil, and split yellow pea, and their application to replace egg white in meringue (Figure 2.4). In their study, AQ foaming ability was expressed as a percent increase (%) in volume and calculated by foaming ability = (total foam volume – initial AQ volume)/initial AQ volume × 100. AQ foaming ability ranged from 39% to 97%, though still much lower than egg white (400%). Sensory analysis of AQ meringues made from garbanzo chickpea and split yellow pea revealed good palatability and overall quality that was comparable to egg white meringue. Conversely, due to their unappealing taste, meringues prepared from haricot bean and whole green lentil AQ were deemed undesirable.



Figure 2.3 Sponge cake prepared with egg white or AQ (A) before baking and (B) after baking. (C) Cross section of baked sponge cake using egg white or AQ (Mustafa et al. 2018 with permission).



Figure 2.4 Pictures of the meringues: (A) front view and (B) top view (Stantiall et al., 2018 with permission).

Serventi et al. (2018) used the same method above and expressed 65% foaming ability for yellow soybean AQ. This AQ was incorporated into gluten-free crackers and to produce a product with improved water absorption. The AQ increased softness and the crackers did not harden with storage. A similar principle was applied by Bird et al. (2017), who used AQ in gluten-free bread to reduce crumb hardness and enhance crumb homogeneity and gas retention.

2.5.4.2 Emulsibility

Protein has been identified as the principal component that determines emulsibility induced by pulse fractions (Du et al., 2014; Karaca et al., 2011), especially when it was combined with carbohydrates (Sila et al., 2014). In previous studies, phenolic content decreased 30-40% in common bean after cooking (Bressani et al., 1980). The loss of 83-97% of tannin was induced by processing (Rao and Deosthale, 1982). Xu and Chang (2008) determined that after soaking and cooking, 40-68% of legume phenolics diffused into cooking water, with the amount dependent on legume type. It has been reported that the flavonoids rutin and tiliroside could also emulsify oilwater solutions (Luo et al., 2011). Moreover, food physical properties, including emulsibility, solubility, stability, and foamability, can be improved by manipulating the interaction between flavonoids and protein (Vega and Grover, 2011). Legume's saponins are surfactants that can also act as emulsifiers due to their amphiphilic structure (Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007). On the other hand, Chung et al. (2017) presumed that saponins could pack tightly together at the interface, and, therefore, effectively avoid unfavourable molecular interactions between the oil and water phases. This could lowered the interfacial tension to generate smaller droplets during homogenization and lead to higher emulsibility (Chung et al., 2017). AQ has been proven to produce stable emulsions, and is especially suitable for high-fat matrices (Damian et al., 2018). According to literature, coalescence caused by oil droplet convergence is the main reason for mayonnaise instability (Jaynes, 1985). The most effective way to limit coalescence is prevent oil droplets from getting too close to each other; in other words, generating strong repulsive forces between droplets (Nikzade et al., 2012). It is assumed that AQ can resist droplet coalescence because emulsion samples which contained AQ showed remarkable stability. Damian et al. (2018) studied AQ emulsion properties and produced cream mousse stabilized by AQ. AQ emulsion activity (EA, %) was measured after centrifugation, and calculated by EA = (height of emulsified layer/total height of mixture) × 100. The AQ produced from haricot bean, garbanzo chickpea, whole green lentil, and split yellow pea had high emulsifying activities (46%-54%), which were comparable to the yellow soybean AQ (49.3%) described by Serventi et al. (2018). Sensory analysis revealed that garbanzo chickpea and split yellow pea AQ were highly rated for palatability and had acceptable function to replace egg in this raw confectionery product.

2.5.4.3 Gelation

Soluble fibre components in AQ, such as hemicellulose and pectin, are associated with gelling ability (Hüttner and Arendt, 2010; Li and Nie, 2016). Gelling agents could form a gel by dissolving in a liquid phase as a hydrocolloid mixture and develop weak cohesive internal structures (Hüttner and Arendt, 2010). Calcium was reported to modulate hydrocolloids functionality in food gels (Nussinovitch et al., 1990) and it may act in this manner with AQ. Garbanzo chickpea AQ has good gelling ability (Stantiall et al., 2018). Therefore, AQ has the potential to be applied as a gelling agent in some food products, such as puddings. Moreover, AQ gelling ability is negatively correlated with AQ insoluble fibre content (Stantiall et al., 2018).

2.5.5 Challenges in AQ Application

AQ has been verified as a potential eco-friendly egg replacement product with various nutrients and functional properties. Unfortunately, AQ functional properties vary among legume's genotypes and with cooking conditions (e.g., temperature, pressure, cooking time, and water-chickpea ratio) (Shim et al. 2018). Therefore, although many AQ food recipes are posted on the internet, internet comments note that individuals have failed to reproduce some recipes. Therefore, optimization and standardization of AQ preparation is necessary to generate consistent and reproducible AQ performance in terms of functional properties and food product quality.

2.6 Summary

Chickpea nutrients and its significance as an essential legume crop growing worldwide was described. Meanwhile, the mechanisms of emulsification and the properties of egg in food emulsions was introduced. Egg replacements were discussed as components of food emulsions as consumers make choices to avoid eggs. Avoidance of eggs can occur for a number of reasons including egg allergies, dietary choices, health considerations, and environmental concerns. Therefore, egg replacements as a trend in food emulsion preparation was discussed. AQ, which has excellent emulsification properties, was described as an egg replacement in a wide range of food emulsions. It is a potential eco-friendly by-product with various nutrients, and it has functional properties that resemble egg white. Unfortunately, there is no literature regarding differences in functional properties of AQ prepared from different chickpea genotypes and standard methods for preparing AQ with the best properties. Therefore, more evidence is needed to demonstrate AQ quality differences among chickpea genotypes, and processing conditions for AQ preparation should be standardized so that AQ quality and functional properties are predictable for the user.

The following studies address this shortfall of knowledge. The impact of genotype on AQ properties was determined by an investigation of five representative chickpea cultivars that were chosen to prepare AQ. AQ emulsion properties were measured to identify differences of AQ quality among chickpea genotypes. Moreover, AQ was prepared from the selected chickpea genotypes by different cooking and drying conditions to determine standard processing conditions.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

Four Kabuli chickpea cultivars (CDC Leader, CDC Orion, CDC Luna, and Amit (B-90)) and one Desi chickpea cultivar (CDC Consul) were generously provided by Dr. Bunyamin Ta'ran from the University of Saskatchewan, Crop Development Centre (CDC) (SK, Canada) (Figure 3.1). The seed was randomly selected and manually cleaned and freed of broken seed, dust, and other foreign materials. Canola oil (purity 100%; ACH Food Companies, Inc., IL, USA) and baking soda (NaHCO₃; ARM & HAMMER by Church & Dwight Co., Inc., ON, Canada) were purchased from a local supermarket (Walmart, Saskatoon, SK, Canada). Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was purchased from GE Healthcare (Mississauga, ON, Canada). Anhydrous ether was obtained from Fisher Scientific Co. (Ottawa, ON, Canada). Sodium hydroxide (NaOH) and sodium chloride (NaCl) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich Canada Ltd. (Oakville, ON, Canada). Concentrated sulphuric acid (H₂SO₄, \geq 96%, w/w) and methanol were acquired from EMD Millipore Corporation (Burlington, MA, USA).



Figure 3.1 Chickpea seed from five cultivars (from left to right: CDC Leader, CDC Orion, CDC Consul, CDC Luna, and Amit).

3.2 Fresh AQ Preparation

Chickpea seed (approx. 100 g) was washed and soaked in distilled water at a ratio of 1:4 (w/w), covered, and kept at 4 °C for 16 h (Stantiall et al., 2018). Soaking water was then drained and discarded. Soaked chickpea seed (100 g) was rinsed with distilled water and mixed with 100 mL distilled water in a 250 mL sealed glass jar and cooked in a pressure cooker (Instant Pot[®] 7 in

1 multi-use programmable pressure cooker, IP-DUO60 V2, 6 quart/liters) at a range of 70–80 kPa, 30 min, and 115–118 °C (Figure 3.2A). Subsequently, the jar was cooled at room temperature for 24 h. Cooled AQ was drained from cooked chickpea seed using a stainless-steel strainer (Figure 3.2B) and stored in a freezer (–18 °C). Each chickpea cultivar was used to produce AQ in this way four times. Prior to analysis, AQ was thawed at 4 °C overnight then held at room temperature for 2 h. AQ moisture content was determined by oven drying at 105 °C overnight according to AACC method 44-15.02.



Figure 3.2 (A) Programmable pressure cooker; (B) AQ drained from cooked chickpea seed; and (C) hand mixer.
3.3 AQ from Five Chickpea Cultivars

3.3.1 AQ Oil Emulsion Preparation

AQ (6 g) produced from each cultivar was mixed with 14 g canola oil using a kitchen hand mixer (Everyday Essentials[™], Figure 3.2C). The mixer was set at its maximum speed for 2 min. Canola oil was added dropwise to the AQ to produce oil-in-water emulsions.

3.3.2 Emulsion Capacity

Each AQ oil emulsion was diluted 100-fold with 0.1% SDS (w/v), and emulsion turbidity (500 nm) was calculated immediately after dilution. A GenesysTM 10S UV-vis spectrophotometer (Thermo ScientificTM) was used to measure transmittance at 500 nm. Emulsion turbidity value (T) was calculated using Equation 3.1:

Equation 3.1 Emulsion turbidity value

$$T=\frac{2.303\times A\times V}{I}$$

in which *T* is the emulsion turbidity (m⁻¹), *A* is the emulsion "absorbance" measurement at 500 nm (1/transmittance), *V* is the dilution factor, and *I* is the path length (0.01 m).

AQ emulsion capacity (EC) was determined according to Liu et al. (2016). An emulsifying activity index (EAI) was used as an indicator and defined by Wang et al. (2010) and Pearce and Kinsella (1978) using Equations 3.2 and 3.3:

Equation 3.2 Emulsifying activity index (EAI)

$$EAI = \frac{2T}{\emptyset \times C}$$

in which \emptyset is the oil volume fraction of dispersed phase and C is the emulsifier concentration (the weight of AQ per unit volume of the aqueous phase before the emulsion is formed) (Pearce and Kinsella, 1978).

Equation 3.3 The oil volume fraction of dispersed phase for EAI

$$\phi = \frac{C - A_1 - E(B - C)}{C - A_1 + \frac{(B - C)\{\{1 + E\}D_0 - E\}}{D_S}}$$

In Equation 3.3, A_1 denotes mass of beaker; B is mass of beaker plus emulsion; C is the mass of beaker plus dry matter; D_0 is the density of oil; D_s is the density of protein solution, and E is the

concentration of solutes (mass per unit mass of solvent) (Pearce and Kinsella, 1978).

All measurements were conducted in triplicate, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.3.3 Emulsion Stability

Emulsion stability (ES) value was determined at room temperature. Each emulsion was transferred into 15 mL centrifuge tube, which was tightly sealed with a plastic cap and centrifuged at 1,860 g for 15 min. The weight of the original emulsion before centrifugation (F_0) and the emulsified layer (F_1) after centrifugation were measured (Figure 3.3). The emulsion stability at room temperature was determined by Equation 3.4 (Nikzade et al., 2012):

Equation 3.4 Emulsion stability

$$ES = \frac{F_1}{F_0} \times 100\%$$

All measurements were conducted in triplicate, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.



Figure 3.3 AQ-canola oil emulsion (A) before and (B) after centrifugation.

3.4 Chickpea Physical Properties

Hundred seed weight (HSW, g) was determined by randomly selecting and weighing 100 grains selected from five chickpea cultivars. Seed coat incidence (SCI, %) was determined by the method of Avola and Patanè (2010) with minor modification. The seed coat of ten chickpea seed was removed after soaking seed in distilled water at 4 °C for 12 h. Then the seed coat and cotyledons were dried separately at 65 °C for 4 h, then weighed each hour until to a constant weight.

Seed dimensions were determined by randomly selecting ten chickpea seeds and then using a micrometer to record the seed dimensions in three perpendicular directions. Equation 3.5 calculated the geometric average of the diameter of an equivalent dimension (ED, mm):

Equation 3.5 Equivalent dimension

 $ED = (L \times W \times T)^{1/3}$

in which L, W and T were the major, minor and intermediate axes (mm), respectively (Mohsenin, 1970).

The surface area per unit mass of seed (or, specific surface area, SSA, mm² mg⁻¹) and seed coat weight per surface area (namely seed coat thickness, WSA, mg cm⁻²) of a single seed were calculated based on the ED and HSW value by the following Equations 3.6 and 3.7, respectively. **Equation 3.6** Specific surface area

$$SSA = \frac{\pi \times ED^2 \times 100}{HSW}$$

Equation 3.7 Seed coat weight per surface

$$WSA = \frac{HSW}{100 \times \pi \times ED^2}$$

3.5 Chickpea Hydration Kinetics

Hydration kinetic tests were performed by the method of Avola and Patanè (2010) with minor modification. Chickpea seed was soaked at room temperature (20–22°C) and weighed periodically to determine water uptake kinetics. Ten seeds were transferred to a 200 mL beaker, which contained 150 mL deionized water or aqueous solutions of 0.5% (w/v) NaCl or NaHCO₃. Beakers were held at a constant temperature of 22 °C. Each hour up to the 8th hour, then at 24 h

after initial imbibition, the seed was drained, and free water was absorbed by a Kimwipes[®] Low-Lint wiper, then weighed. A clean wiper was used for each weighing to avoid contamination with solutes or water.

A two-parameter asymptotic equation (Equation 3.8) was used to model water uptake kinetics (SigmaPlot 9.0; Systat Software, Inc., San Jose, CA, USA):

Equation 3.8 Hydration weight after soaking for time

 $H_t = H_{max} \times (1 - e^{-kx})$

in which H_t is hydration weight (g seed⁻¹) after soaking for time t (h), H_{max} is the asymptote of the curve (to estimate seed weight at full hydration), k is a curve parameter that is related to the initial hydration rate (estimating H_{rate}).

All measurements were conducted in triplicate, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.6 Chickpea Chemical Properties

The moisture content of whole chickpea seed was measured by the ASAE S352.2 air oven method (103°C, 72 h, 15 g) (ASAE Standards, 1988). Selected whole chickpea seed was ground with a disc mill before proximate composition analysis. Analyses of crude protein, crude fat, ash, and crude fibre were performed using Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC, 2016) methods. In brief, nitrogen content was analyzed by combustion (AOAC Method 990.03) using a LECO (Saint Joseph, MI, USA) nitrogen analyzer. Protein content was calculated as nitrogen content multiplied by a conversion factor 6.25. Fat was extracted from ground samples according to AOAC method 920.39 using anhydrous ether in a Soxhlet apparatus (Extraction system B-811, BÜCHI Labortechnik AG., Switzerland). Ground chickpea samples were weighed (2 g) onto filter paper which was then placed in a cellulose Soxhlet extraction thimble and washed five times with 20 mL distilled H₂O each time. After drying in an oven at 102 °C for 2 h, oil was extracted over 5 h in a Soxhlet apparatus with anhydrous ether. Chickpea ash content was determined by AOAC method 942.05. Samples were weighed (2 g) in separate pre-weighed porcelain crucibles and placed in a preheated furnace (600 °C) for 2 h. Crucibles were then transferred to a desiccator, cooled and reweighed. Sample weight remaining after ignition of a 2 g sample was regarded as ash content. Carbohydrate content was determined by subtracting the total percentage of protein, fat, fibre and ash components from 100 percent. Crude fibre content was determined by AOAC method 962.09 with minor modification. Samples were digested with 1.25% (w/v) boiling H₂SO₄ (30 min) followed by 1.25% (w/v) boiling NaOH (30 min) and washed with methanol. Samples were then dried to constant weight and the residue burned. Weight loss on ignition of the dried residue was regarded as crude fibre content. All measurements were conducted in triplicate, and results were expressed as mean \pm SD.

3.7 AQ Standardization

3.7.1 Cooking Conditions

Chickpea seed (approx. 100 g) from selected cultivars was washed and soaked in distilled water at a ratio of 1:4 (w/w) over various intervals (1 or 16 h) at different temperatures (4 or 85 $^{\circ}$ C). After soaking water was drained and discarded. Soaked chickpea seed (100 g) was rinsed with distilled water and mixed with 100 mL distilled water in a 250 mL sealed glass jar and cooked in a pressure cooker (70–80 kPa, and 115–118 °C) for different periods (20, 30 or 60 min). After cooking jars were cooled at room temperature for 24 h. Cooled AQ was drained from cooked chickpea seed using a stainless-steel strainer and stored in a freezer (–18 °C). For each analysis of AQ properties, a sample was thawed at 4 °C overnight and then warmed to 22 C for 2 h. AQ preparation conditions are provided in Table 3.1. AQ emulsion properties were measured to determine the most desirable cooking conditions. All measurements were conducted in triplicate, and results expressed as mean ± SD.

Condition No.	A	В	С	D	Е
Soaking time (h)	16	1	1	16	16
Soaking temperature (°C)	4	85	85	4	4
Soaking water additives (w/w)	NA	0.2% NaHCO3	NA	NA	NA
Cooking time (min)	30	20	30	60	20

Tab	le 3.	1 AQ	preparation	1 conditions
-----	-------	------	-------------	--------------

NA - no additives.

3.7.2 Comparison of Drying Methods

The effect of five drying methods on AQ properties was determined on AQ prepared from selected chickpea cultivars. In addition, dried AQ emulsion capacity and stability were measured to determine if the drying process influenced AQ properties and emulsion quality. AQ (750 g) was

weighed and randomly separated to 5 equal parts (150 g) and marked as sample No.1 to No.5. Sample No.1 was frozen to -20 °C then dried in a freeze dryer (Figure 3.4A, FreeZone 12 Liter Console Freeze Dryer with Stoppering Tray Dryer, Labconco Corporation, Kansas City, USA) until the sample temperature rose to -5 °C, indicating the sample had been thoroughly dried. Sample No.2 was spray dried (Figure 3.4B, Mini Spray Dryer B-290, BUCHI Labortechnik AG, Switzerland) and was dried at 150 °C immediately. Sample No.3 was dried in an oven (Figure 3.4C, VWR[®] Signature[™] Forced Air Safety Oven, Radnor, Pennsylvania, USA) at 80 °C to a consistent weight. Sample No.4 was dried in a round-bottom flask connected with a rotary evaporator (Figure 3.4D, Büchi[®] Model R-200 BUCHI Labortechnik AG, Switzerland) at 50°C under vacuum pressure. Sample No.5 was dried in a vacuum pressure oven (Figure 3.4E, Fisherbrand[™] Isotemp[™] Model 281A vacuum oven, Fisher Scientific International, Ottawa, ON, Canada) at 60 °C for 12 h.



Figure 3.4 (A) Freeze dryer with stoppering tray dryer; (B) spray dryer; (C) oven; (D) rotary evaporator; and (E) vacuum oven.

Dried AQ was rehydrated by adding distilled water to replace water lost during drying. Moisture loss could be determined by dried AQ yield. Rehydrated AQ was mixed with oil to make emulsion following the method above (3.3.1).

3.8 Statistical Analysis

Three replications were used to obtain the average and standard deviation values for all tests. Data are presented as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) (n = 3). The analyses are processed with Microsoft[®] Excel[®] 2018 and a completely randomized design and the Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) version 25.0 (IBM Corp., AR, NY, USA). The analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's tests were used to evaluate the statistical significance of differences in properties and composition. Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05. The mathematical model parameters used in chickpea seed hydration kinetics measurement were estimated using a nonlinear regression procedure performed by SigmaPlot software (Systat Software Inc. SJ, CA, USA). Model suitability was evaluated using the coefficient of determination (R^2), which indicates the model predictive quality (the higher the value for R^2 , the better the goodness of fit, and up to a value of 1 meaning exact fit). The hydration kinetics parameters given by the nonlinear regressions were used to compare chickpea cultivars and soaking treatments including soaking time and soaking solutions. A t-test was used referenced from Douglas (2012). Pearson correlation coefficients (r) for the relationships between all characteristics were calculated.

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

4.1 Aquafaba Produced from Different Chickpea Cultivars

Chickpea seed was washed and soaked in distilled water and kept at 4 °C for 16 h. Next, soaked chickpea seed (100 g) was separated from soaking water and mixed with 100 mL distilled water in a 250 mL sealed glass jar, and cooked in a pressure cooker for 30 min. The liquid remaining after chickpea seed was cooked is AQ. Aquafaba (AQ) prepared from different chickpea cultivars showed significant different yields and moisture contents (Figures 4.1 and 4.2). Fresh AQ yields ranged from 70.90 g/100 g seed to 107.44 g/100 g seed with the highest yield produced by CDC Luna and the lowest one by CDC Leader. AQ moisture content ranged from 92.4% to 94.2% with the highest moisture content in AQ produced by CDC Luna and the lowest by CDC Leader. Commercially, high yield AQ with low moisture content (high dry matter content) would be of better economic value.

Colour and turbidity of AQ varied with chickpea cultivar (Figures 4.3 and 4.4). AQ produced from CDC Leader and CDC Orion had similar colour and high turbidity. The AQ samples were pale yellow and cloudy liquid. Whereas, AQ produced from Amit was bright yellow and cloudy. Interestingly, AQ produced by CDC Luna had the lowest turbidity and was nearly translucent and bright yellow. More remarkable, AQ produced by CDC Consul was a dark brown colour and had high turbidity. This dark brown colour might arise from tannins in the chickpea seed (Lyimo et al., 1992; Muzquiz et al., 1999). In general, AQ colour might arise from chickpea seed pigments, vitamins, and other plant secondary metabolites content and varieties. Chickpea contains pigments mainly falling into the carotenoids class (β -carotene, cryptoxanthin, lutein, and zeaxanthin) as well as small amounts of chlorophyll (Abbo et al., 2005). Moreover, there are also some water-soluble vitamins in chickpea, such as thiamin, riboflavin, niacin, vitamin B₆, folate, and ascorbic acid (USDA, 2018). Additionally, some flavonoid compounds, including anthocyanin, flavonols, isoflavones, flavonol glucosides, phlobaphenes, proanthocyanidin, leucoanthocyanidin, and proanthocyanidin in the seed coat also contributed to AQ colour (Furukawa et al., 2006).



Figure 4.1 Fresh AQ yield (g/100 g seed) prepared from different chickpea cultivars.



Figure 4.2 Moisture content (%) of fresh AQ prepared from different chickpea cultivars.

Hemicellulose (Hromádková and Ebringerová, 2003) and cellulose (Sun et al., 2004b) were disrupted by high temperature (70–80 kPa), high pressure (115–118 °C) cooking for 30 min, leading to destruction of the chickpea cell wall and breakage of the links between lignin and hemicelluloses (Sun et al., 2004a). In the current study, CDC Leader, CDC Orion, CDC Luna, and Amit are Kabuli class chickpea cultivars which normally have a white to cream-yellow colour, while CDC Consul is Desi class with brown to fawn colours. This pigment difference could explain why CDC Consul has a unique dark brown colour among these chickpea cultivars. AQ turbidity is also a result of the disruption of chickpea seed microstructure during cooking, leaching of organic compounds, pigments, proteins, sugars, starch, and vitamins into the cooking water (Yildirim and Öner, 2015).



Figure 4.3 AQ and chickpeas from different chickpea cultivars prepared in jars. From left to right: CDC Consul, CDC Luna, CDC Orion, CDC Leader, and Amit.



Figure 4.4 AQ separated from chickpea seed. From left to right: Amit, CDC Orion, CDC Leader, CDC Luna, CDC Consul.

4.2 AQ Selection from Different Chickpea Cultivars

4.2.1 AQ Emulsion Capacity

Today, healthier and nutritious foods are demanded by conscious consumers. Food oil emulsion, such as mayonnaise and salad dressing, is often mentioned due to its high fat and cholesterol content. Plant-based proteins, including soybean and wheat proteins, are accessible in replacing egg as emulsifiers in mayonnaise emulsion systems (Ghoush et al., 2008; Puppo et al., 2000). Nikzade et al. (2012) developed a combination of soy milk, gums, and other stabilizers to replace egg in a low cholesterol-low fat mayonnaise formula. The application and development of different ingredients in reduced fat/cholesterol salad dressing and mayonnaise have been summarized by Ma and Boye (2013).

As a novel emulsifier, AQ can potentially stabilize oil-in-water emulsions. EAI values of AQ prepared from each of five chickpea cultivars were measured (Figure 4.5). They ranged from 1.10 \pm 0.04 to 1.30 \pm 0.05 m²g⁻¹ with the highest EAI observed from AQ prepared from CDC Leader, while the lowest EAI occurred with CDC Orion. There were no significant differences among EAIs of CDC Consul (1.21 \pm 0.02 m²g⁻¹), CDC Luna (1.17 \pm 0.07 m²g⁻¹), and Amit (1.20 \pm 0.05 m²g⁻¹).

In this study, AQ prepared by CDC Leader induced higher EAI $(1.30 \pm 0.05 \text{ m}^2\text{g}^{-1})$ than AQ prepared by other chickpea cultivars, indicating better emulsification activity of CDC Leader AQ. Emulsification activity could be partly ascribed to proteins present which could help to decrease oil-water interface surface tension and provide electrostatic repulsion on oil droplet surfaces thereby emulsifying and stabilizing emulsions (Nakamura et al., 2004; Jitngarmkusol et al., 2008). Importantly, the contribution of hydrophobic polysaccharides and amphiphilic phytochemicals to emulsification activity cannot be neglected. Improved rheological properties of hydrophilic polysaccharides induced steric and mechanical stabilization effects, which slowed or even prevented emulsion droplet aggregation by forming thick charged layers (Randall et al., 1988).

4.2.2 AQ Emulsion Stability

Emulsion stability of AQ from cooked whole seed of five chickpea cultivars was also investigated in this study (Figure 4.5). AQ emulsion stability ranged from $71.9 \pm 0.8\%$ to $77.1 \pm 0.5\%$ with the highest emulsion stability also observed from AQ prepared by CDC Leader and Amit, while the lowest emulsion stability for AQ prepared by CDC Luna. There was no significant

difference between the emulsion stability of AQ from CDC Orion (75.6%) and CDC Consul (74.7%). Nikzade et al. (2012) measured emulsion stability of mayonnaise samples made by soymilk and different compositions of xanthan gum, guar gum, and mono/diglyceride emulsifiers. In their comparison the ES values for emulsions from samples ranged from 65.67% to 97.78%. In comparison, this study shows that AQ has better emulsification effects than some existing commercial egg replacements when used as emulsifiers in mayonnaise. Thus, these results suggested that AQ might be used as a stabilizing agent in manufacturing egg-free food oil emulsions, and AQ produced from CDC Leader would be the superior choice.





4.3 Chickpea Physical Properties

Physical characteristics of seed from different chickpea cultivars are shown in Table 4.1. Highly significant differences on the HSW and WSA among chickpea cultivars were observed from ANOVA results. HSW and ED ranged from 22.43 ± 0.08 g to 42.9 ± 0.3 g and 6.89 ± 0.5 mm to 8.49 ± 0.2 mm, respectively. CDC Leader exhibited heavier (42.90 ± 0.3 g/100 seed) and larger (8.49 ± 0.2 mm) seed compared with the other cultivars. CDC Orion was not significantly (P >0.05) different from CDC Luna, except for WSA ($10 \pm 1 \text{ mg cm}^{-2}$). CDC Consul exhibited the greatest SCI ($11.2 \pm 2\%$) and WSA ($15 \pm 1 \text{ mg cm}^{-1}$). Amit showed the highest SSA (0.668 ± 0.09 mm² mg⁻¹). These observed values are comparable to results reported previously (Avola and Patanè 2010), where three Sicilian chickpea cultivars (Calia, Etna and Principe) were evaluated for their HSW, ED, SCI, SSA, and WSA. In their study, chickpea HSW value ranged from 31.3 g/100 seed to 48.8g/100 seed. Three Sicilian chickpea cultivars had similar ED and SCI with an average of 7.8 mm and 5.78%, respectively. The SSA value differed among chickpea cultivars and ranged from 0.45 mm² mg⁻¹ to 0.6 mm² mg⁻¹. The WSA value showed a wide range from 8.3 to 11.9 mg cm⁻².

4.4 Hydration Kinetics

Chickpea seed was soaked with water to hydrate, soften its texture and reduce the cooking time before boiling, making it easier to cook. The relationship between soaking time and cumulative values of water uptake (Figure 4.6) was described by a nonlinear iterative regression method with an exponential equation (Equation 3.8). The applied model fitted the experimental data with an R^2 that was greater than 0.94 for all cultivars. Therefore, a single curve for water uptake was used in further analysis with all data combined. Soaking processes achieve rapid water uptake (H_{rate} = 0.38 g H₂O g min⁻¹), and after soaking for 6 h, water absorbed reached 90% of seed dry weight. Subsequently, water absorption rate declined until the hydrated seed weight was approximately 2.06-fold greater than before hydration, where total hydration reached saturation at 1.06 g H₂O g dw⁻¹ (H_{max}). Similar trends for chickpea seed hydration were described by several authors (Avola and Patanè, 2010; Clemente et al., 1998; Turhan et al., 2002; Ibarz et al., 2004; Patanè et al., 2004; Wood and Harden, 2006; Gowen et al., 2007). However, in Avola and Patanè (2010), Ibarz et al. (2004) and Patanè's (2004) studies, water content of chickpea seed exceeded 90% of total water imbibition after 4 h.

Statistic analysis revealed no significant differences among H_{max} , except Amit seed which absorbed more water than the other chickpea cultivars (1.20 g H₂O g dw⁻¹) in all soaking solutions (Tables 4.1 and 4.2). The modeled hydration rate (H_{rate}) of these five chickpea cultivars were mostly similar and ranged from 0.328 to 0.417 g H₂O g dw⁻¹. Interestingly, the H_{max} and H_{rate} of chickpea seed soaking in NaCl solution was slightly lower compared with that obtained in deionized water. However, seed of CDC Leader, exhibited similar H_{rate} in both deionized water and NaCl solution. Conversely, soaking seed in NaHCO₃ solution increased H_{max} for CDC Luna and H_{rate} for CDC Consul. These results are partially in agreement with previous reports that the presence of salt in soaking solution results in a slower seed hydration (Pinto and Esin, 2004), but in contrast with the

Characteristics	Unit	CDC Leader	CDC Orion	CDC Consul	CDC Luna	Amit
Physical						
Hundred seed weight, HSW	G	$42.90\pm0.3^{\rm a}$	$41.03\pm0.6^{\text{b}}$	$33.34\pm0.4^{\rm d}$	40.37 ± 0.6^{bc}	$22.43\pm0.08^{\text{e}}$
Diameter Equivalent, ED	Mm	$8.49\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	$8.45\pm0.3^{\rm a}$	$8.21\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	8.24 ± 0.1^{a}	6.89 ± 0.5^{b}
Seed Coat Incidence, SCI	%	$3.89\pm0.3^{\text{c}}$	6.63 ± 2^{b}	11.2 ± 2^{a}	5.39 ± 0.6^{bc}	$4.65\pm0.9^{\rm c}$
Specific Surface Area, SSA	mm ² mg ⁻¹	$0.528\pm0.03^{\text{b}}$	$0.547\pm0.04^{\rm b}$	0.621 ± 0.03^{ab}	$0.529\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	$0.668\pm0.09^{\rm a}$
Seed Coat weight per surface area, WSA	mg cm ⁻²	$6.9\pm0.4^{\rm d}$	$10\pm1^{\circ}$	15 ± 1^{a}	$5.7\pm0.2^{\rm d}$	12 ± 2^b
Technological						
Hydration capacity (t= ∞), H _{max}	$g (H_2O g dw^{-1})$	$1.036\pm0.02^{\text{b}}$	$1.073\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	0.9870 ± 0.03^{b}	1.025 ± 0.1^{b}	$1.198\pm0.03^{\rm a}$
Hydration rate, H _{rate}	g (H ₂ O g min ⁻¹)	0.3537 ± 0.01^{ab}	0.3914 ± 0.04^{ab}	$0.3412\pm0.09^{\text{b}}$	$0.4542\pm0.03^{\text{a}}$	0.4112 ± 0.04^{ab}
Chemical						
Moisture	%	$8.86\pm0.07^{\rm c}$	9.24 ± 0.08^{b}	$10.7\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	5.48 ± 0.02^{d}	$5.29\pm0.01^{\text{e}}$
Carbohydrate	g (100 g dw ⁻¹)	65.4 ± 2^{ab}	61.8 ± 2^{b}	65.2 ± 2^{a}	$67.4\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	66.8 ± 1^{ab}
Protein	g (100 g dw ⁻¹)	$20.9\pm0.1^{\text{b}}$	23.6 ± 0.08^{a}	$18.7 \pm 1^{\circ}$	$18.3\pm0.3^{\rm c}$	$20.2\pm0.1^{\text{b}}$
Fat	g (100 g dw ⁻¹)	6.49 ± 0.5^{ab}	$5.96\pm0.5^{\text{b}}$	$4.64\pm0.5^{\circ}$	7.24 ± 0.5^{a}	4.10 ± 0.5^{cd}
Ash	g (100 g dw ⁻¹)	$3.0\pm0.1^{\text{c}}$	$3.2\pm0.0^{\text{b}}$	2.9 ± 0.1^{d}	$2.5\pm0.0^{\text{e}}$	$3.4\pm0.1^{\rm a}$
Fibre	g (100 g dw ⁻¹)	4.32 ± 1^{b}	5.36 ± 2^{ab}	$8.59\pm0.6^{\rm a}$	$4.63\pm1^{\text{b}}$	5.55 ± 0.8^{ab}

Table 4.1 Physical and chemical characteristics of seed from five chickpea cultivars.

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3). Value within rows followed by the same letter (e.g., a, b, c, d.) indicates no significant difference (P > 0.05) between varieties by Tukey's test.



Figure 4.6 Chickpea seed water absorption kinetics. A common curve fitted all data (different chickpea cultivars and hydration solutions).

Hydration solution	H _{max} g H ₂ O g dw ⁻¹	H _{rate} g min ⁻¹	R^2	_
CDC Leader				_
H_2O	1.058	0.356	0.996	
NaCl	1.014	0.359	0.996	
NaHCO ₃	1.035	0.347	0.996	
CDC Orion				
H_2O	1.078	0.431	0.992	
NaCl	1.060	0.364	0.993	
NaHCO ₃	1.080	0.379	0.992	
CDC Consul				
H_2O	1.023	0.313	0.974	
NaCl	0.973	0.268	0.941	
NaHCO ₃	0.965	0.442	0.968	
CDC Luna				
H_2O	0.993	0.479	0.986	
NaCl	0.948	0.425	0.993	
NaHCO ₃	1.133	0.459	0.943	
Amit				
H_2O	1.192	0.456	0.988	
NaCl	1.172	0.384	0.998	
NaHCO ₃	1.230	0.393	0.988	
All data combined	1.062	0.380	0.929	

Table 4.2 Kinetic constants of the nonlinear regression analysis for chickpea seed hydration.

findings of Avola and Patanè (2010) and Clemente et al. (1998), where no effect was observed of soaking chickpea seed in salt solution. There were two possible explanations for increased H_{max} results in NaHCO₃ solution: 1) the osmotic pressure gradient across membranes of cotyledon cells was decreased (Woodstock, 1988); 2) there was an interaction of carbonate ions with biopolymers in cotyledon cells which might produce molecular unfolding with a possible exposure of new sites for water binding (Leopold, 1983).

4.5 Chickpea Chemical Properties

The main chemical constituents (moisture, carbohydrate, protein, fat, ash and fibre content) of different cultivars chickpea are summarized in Table 4.1. The moisture content of raw chickpea seed showed significant difference among chickpea cultivars ($5.29 \pm 0.01\%$ to $10.7 \pm 0.1\%$), with the highest moisture content for CDC Consul and the lowest for Amit. Carbohydrate was the main component in all of the samples, while protein was the second major component. CDC Luna had the highest carbohydrate content (67.4 \pm 0.7 g 100 g dw⁻¹), followed by Amit (66.8 \pm 1 g 100 g dw⁻¹) and CDC Leader (65.4 \pm 2 g 100 g dw⁻¹). Protein content ranged from 18.3 \pm 0.3 (CDC Luna) to 23.6 ± 0.08 g 100 g dw⁻¹ (CDC Orion). The former also contained more fat (7.24 g \pm 0.5 g 100 g dw⁻¹) than other chickpea cultivars, while Amit had the lowest fat content (4.10 ± 0.5 g 100 g dw⁻¹). Chickpea ash content did not differ with genotype. The mean value of ash content was 3.0 g 100 g dw⁻¹. Crude fibre content ranged from 4.32 ± 1 g 100 g dw⁻¹ to 8.59 ± 0.6 g 100 g dw⁻¹. These observations are in agreement with previous studies by Xu et al. (2014), Sotelo et al. (1987), Jood et al. (1998), Özer et al. (2010) and de Almeida Costa et al. (2006) for chemical composition of raw chickpea seed from different chickpea cultivars. In addition, Khattak et al. (2006) analyzed protein and ash content of seven Kabuli chickpea cultivars which ranged from 18.08 to 19.22% and 2.45% to 2.94%, and thus was similar to the values in this study.

4.6 Correlation Analysis

The overall interrelationships among chickpea physical, chemical, hydration characteristics, and AQ yield, emulsion capacity, and stability are shown in Table 4.3. AQ emulsion properties have often been linked to AQ carbohydrate content, protein content (Du et al., 2014; Karaca et al., 2011; Sila et al., 2014), and some phytochemicals such as phenolics (Luo et al., 2011) and saponins (Vega and Grover, 2011; Güçlü-Üstündağ and Mazza, 2007; Chung et al., 2017). In this study, we

only determined chickpea seed proximate composition (protein, fat, carbohydrate, fibre, and ash), and did not observe any possible correlation between these parameters and AQ emulsion properties (emulsion capacity and stability). This could be due to different physical characteristics exhibited in the seed of different chickpea cultivars. For example, seed coat thickness and seed hardness may influence the dispersal of chemical substances into AQ, even under identical cooking conditions. Therefore, a weak correlation between chickpea seed proximate composition (carbohydrate, protein, etc.) and AQ emulsion properties did not suggest that AQ chemical components were not correlated to AQ emulsion properties, and vice versa.

AQ yield was inversely correlated to both ES ($r = -0.94^*$) and ash content ($r = -0.92^*$). Emulsion stability was also negatively correlated to AQ moisture content ($r = -0.91^*$), suggesting that AQ with higher dry matter content have better emulsion properties. Seed coat incidence, SSA and WSA were not related to seed dimension, but SSA was found to have the highest negative correlation with seed weight ($r = -0.97^{**}$). Hundred seed weight (HSW) was also positively correlated to ED ($r = 0.97^{**}$), indicating that heavier and larger chickpea seeds develop smaller surface area per unit mass. Fibre was closely correlated to seed coat incidence (SCI: $r = 0.95^*$) and seed coat thickness (WSA: $r = 0.90^*$). Therefore, a chickpea cultivar with high SCI and WSA will have high fibre content in the seed coat (Sreerama et al., 2010). Finally, fat content was negatively correlated with SSA ($r = -0.96^*$) and WSA ($r = -0.90^*$), complementary to Gil et al. (1996) who observed a similar relationship in Desi and Kabuli chickpea. In their study, fat content was also positively and significantly correlated to HSW for both chickpea classes. However, in this study, correlation between chickpea fat content and HSW ($r = 0.87^{ns}$) was insignificant. This study supported observations made by Khattak et al. (2006), who revealed a strong positive correlation between seed size and seed weight. Moreover, they found that seed size was positively correlated with chickpea hydration capacity and protein content, as well as moisture content. However, no similar correlation was observed in this study. The weaker correlation observed in this study might be attributed to genetic/environmental variability in chickpea genotypes used in these different experiments.

4.7 AQ Standardization

The chickpea cultivar, CDC Leader, was chosen to standardize AQ production processes and further AQ-oil emulsion studies because it demonstrated the highest EAI and ES.

	ES	EC	HSW	SCI	ED	SSA	WSA	Carboh.	AQ moisture	Protein	Fibre	Fat	Ash	H _{max}	H _{rate}
AQ yield	-0.94*	-0.28 ^{ns}	0.47 ^{ns}	0.09 ^{ns}	0.42 ^{ns}	-0.55 ^{ns}	-0.50 ^{ns}	-0.29 ^{ns}	0.71 ^{ns}	-0.48 ^{ns}	-0.15 ^{ns}	0.71 ^{ns}	-0.92*	-0.54 ^{ns}	0.32 ^{ns}
ES		0.40 ^{ns}	-0.17 ^{ns}	-0.24 ^{ns}	-0.16 ^{ns}	-0.24 ^{ns}	0.25 ^{ns}	-0.37 ^{ns}	-0.91*	-0.58 ^{ns}	-0.06 ^{ns}	-0.44 ^{ns}	0.82 ^{ns}	0.39 ^{ns}	-0.37 ^{ns}
EC			0.02 ^{ns}	0.20 ^{ns}	0.01 ^{ns}	-0.00 ^{ns}	-0.02 ^{ns}	0.47 ^{ns}	-0.34 ^{ns}	0.39 ^{ns}	-0.06 ^{ns}	-0.01 ^{ns}	-0.08 ^{ns}	-0.17 ^{ns}	-0.51 ^{ns}
HSW				-0.10 ^{ns}	0.97**	-0.97**	-0.63 ^{ns}	-0.39 ^{ns}	-0.28 ^{ns}	0.24 ^{ns}	-0.38 ^{ns}	0.87 ^{ns}	-0.52 ^{ns}	-0.71 ^{ns}	-0.19 ^{ns}
SCI					0.15 ^{ns}	0.30 ^{ns}	0.75 ^{ns}	0.24 ^{ns}	0.26 ^{ns}	-0.26 ^{ns}	0.95*	-0.39 ^{ns}	-0.18 ^{ns}	-0.52 ^{ns}	-0.62 ^{ns}
ED						-0.88 ^{ns}	-0.42 ^{ns}	-0.48 ^{ns}	-0.28 ^{ns}	0.21 ^{ns}	-0.13 ^{ns}	0.74 ^{ns}	-0.51 ^{ns}	-0.83 ^{ns}	-0.38 ^{ns}
SSA							0.80 ^{ns}	0.25 ^{ns}	0.19 ^{ns}	-0.21 ^{ns}	0.57 ^{ns}	-0.96*	0.55 ^{ns}	0.58 ^{ns}	-0.03 ^{ns}
WSA								-0.20 ^{ns}	0.02^{ns}	-0.04 ^{ns}	0.90^{*}	-0.90*	0.45 ^{ns}	0.12 ^{ns}	-0.47 ^{ns}
Carbohydrate									0.59 ^{ns}	-0.85 ^{ns}	-0.11 ^{ns}	-0.01 ^{ns}	-0.40 ^{ns}	-0.14 ^{ns}	0.27 ^{ns}
AQ moisture										-0.72 ^{ns}	0.22 ^{ns}	0.04 ^{ns}	-0.59 ^{ns}	-0.07 ^{ns}	0.43 ^{ns}
Protein											-0.31 ^{ns}	0.01 ^{ns}	0.65 ^{ns}	0.30 ^{ns}	0.09 ^{ns}
Fibre												-0.64 ^{ns}	0.02 ^{ns}	-0.30 ^{ns}	-0.63 ^{ns}
Fat													-0.68 ^{ns}	-0.51 ^{ns}	0.23 ^{ns}
Ash														0.74 ^{ns}	0.01 ^{ns}
H _{max}															0.60 ^{ns}

Table 4.3 Correlation coefficient among the sixteen physical, chemical, and hydration attributes for the five chickpea cultivars and AQ yield, emulsion capacity, and emulsion stability.

AQ, aquafaba; ES, emulsion stability; EC, emulsion capacity; HSW, 100 seed weight; ED, equivalent dimension; SCI, seed coat incidence; SSA, specific surface area; WSA, weight of seed coat per surface area; H_{max} , max hydration capacity; H_{rate} , initial hydration rate.

*, ** indicate significant for P < 0.05, 0.01, respectively.

4.7.1 Optimization of AQ Preparation

Conditions for AQ preparation were investigated. Cooking time is readily controlled and regarded as an essential parameter in the acceptability of chickpea. Long cooking time leads to softer texture and can cause loss of nutrients. On the other hand, short cooking time does not sufficiently soften chickpea seed and can limit seed digestibility. Additionally, cooking chickpea seed with NaHCO₃ solution as a soaking medium might provide faster water absorption rate and shorter cooking times (Clemente et al., 1998). Therefore, chickpea soaking/cooking times and soaking solution were determined to optimize AQ cooking conditions.

Chickpea seed of CDC Leader was soaked and cooked for different intervals (conditions A to E). After cooking and separation, the AQ emulsion properties were measured (Figure 4.7). Overall, AQ prepared by soaking chickpea seed in 4°C water for 16 h and cooking for 30 min (condition A) had the highest EAI ($1.30 \pm 0.05 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$) compared with AQ made using other conditions. Interestingly, AQ EAI showed lower values when the cooking time was either increased to 60 min ($0.944 \pm 0.07 \text{ m}^2\text{g}^{-1}$) (condition D) or decreased to 20 min ($0.699 \pm 0.09 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$) (condition E) indicating that when chickpea was cooked for 20 min to 30 min, EAI increased; however, when chickpea was cooked for 30 min to 60 min, EAI decreased. Soaking seed in a 0.2% (w/w) NaHCO₃ solution at 85 °C for 1 h and cooking for 20 min (condition B) decreased AQ EAI to $1.17 \pm 0.06 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$. Lower EAI ($0.843 \pm 0.1 \text{ m}^2 \text{ g}^{-1}$) was observed when AQ was made by soaking seed in 85 °C water for 1 h and cooking for 30 min (condition C). This verified that soaking chickpea in a 0.2% (w/w) NaHCO₃ solution promoted AQ EAI by increasing chickpea water absorption rate and accelerating chickpea microstructure disruption, thereby leaching more substances with emulsion forming properties.

AQ prepared by cooking condition A demonstrated high ES (77.1 \pm 0.5%). Shortening soaking time to 1 h at 85 °C water did not increase AQ stability, regardless of the addition of 0.2% w/w NaHCO₃ (76.1 \pm 0.3%) (condition B) or not (74.0 \pm 1%) (condition C). There was no significant difference when prolonging cooking time to 60 min (77.5 \pm 1%) (condition D). However, decreasing cooking time to 20 min (condition E) decreased AQ emulsion stability to 72.0 \pm 2%.



Figure 4.7 Emulsion capacity and stability of AQ prepared with CDC Leader using different cooking conditions (A: Soaking seed in 4 °C water for 16 h then cooking for 30 min; B: Soaking seed in 85 °C water with 0.2% (w/w) NaHCO₃ for 1 h and cooking for 20 min; C: Soaking seed in 85 °C water for 1 h and cooking for 30 min; D: Soaking seed in 4 °C water for 16 h and cooking for 1 h; and E: Soaking seed in 4 °C water for 16 h and cooking for 20 min).

Phenolics have the ability to emulsify oil-water solutions (Luo et al., 2011). More importantly, emulsibility could be improved through interactions between phenolics and protein (Vega and Grover, 2011). Xu and Chang (2008) observed that the amount of phenolic compounds in lentil extract solutions decreased from 1.25 mg/g to 0.84 mg/g when the cooking time was increased from 30 min to 60 min. Therefore, one possible mechanism, by which long cooking times lowered emulsion properties, is through the release of phenolic compounds between 20 min to 60 min of cooking followed by the degradation of these compounds due to their heat sensitivity at boiling temperatures (Siah et al., 2014). Oxidation of hydroxyl groups in phenolics is a possible mechanism of thermal degradation as most phenolic compounds are non-conjugated. Therefore, these functional groups are readily degraded (Vallverdú-Queralt et al., 2014).

4.7.2 Comparison of Drying Methods

The moisture content of fresh AQ is over 90%. Furthermore, the likely application of AQ is as a food ingredient. However, it is highly desirable to prepare AQ as a concentrate to reduce the costs of shipping large amounts of water. More importantly, AQ is rich in carbohydrates and proteins (Stantiall et al., 2018) which are nutrients for microorganisms (Pastor et al., 2014). Therefore, it would be desirable to reduce AQ water activity prior to shipping. Drying AQ to remove water before shipping or storage is an excellent way to transport it efficiently and economically, maintain its quality, and save storage space. However, the effects of drying on AQ functional properties is unknown. Moreover, there are many approaches to dry liquids and gels, and it is important to determine which method best preserves AQ functionality.

AQ (100 g) prepared from CDC Leader was dried using several approaches, and the emulsion forming properties were compared to determine which approach provides the most desirable AQ product (Figures 4.8 and 4.9).

Images of dried AQ prepared by different drying methods are provided in Figure 4.8. Both freeze dried AQ (Figure 4.8A) and spray dried AQ (Figure 4.8B) were powdery. On the contrary, oven drying, AQ samples (Figure 4.8C) changed from pale yellow to dark brown, and its structure became brittle. Meanwhile, AQ sample prepared by drying at 40 °C using a rotary evaporation (Figure 4.8D) resulted in a thick rubbery gel that adhered to the evaporator flask and had to be removed using a spatula. Finally, AQ sample dried via vacuum evaporation in an oven was slow and had higher moisture content when compared with other dried AQ samples. The texture of the vacuum dried sample (Figure 4.8E) was like a rubber sheet.

All drying methods were able to remove a significant portion of water present in the AQ. The amount of water removed (g) and drying time (h) of different drying methods were calculated and are reported in Table 4.4. Spray drying could remove the largest amount of water (95.00 ± 0.03 g) in the shortest time (0.29 ± 0.00 h). Freeze drying, oven drying, rotary evaporation drying, and vacuum drying took a longer time to remove water from AQ. Powders are preferable to pastes for home and industrial applications as they are more readily dispensed. Both freeze drying and spray drying methods produced powder, but it is important that the functionality of AQ after rehydration, must be maintained. Freeze drying methods are not typically preferred in industry due to the high capital cost of equipment and the requirement for large amounts of energy.



Figure 4.8 AQ samples prepared by different drying methods (A) freeze drying; (B) spray drying; (C) oven drying; (D) rotary evaporation drying; and (E) vacuum drying.

Drying methods	Amount of water removed (g)	Drying time (h)	Dried AQ yield (g/100 g fresh AQ)	Water added (g/10 g dried AQ)
Spray drying	$95.0\pm0.0^{\rm a}$	0.3 ± 0.0^{d}	$5.01\pm0.03^{\text{e}}$	190
Freeze drying	92.9 ± 0.0^{b}	129 ± 5^{a}	$7.06\pm0.04^{\rm d}$	132
Oven drying	$92.8\pm0.1^{\text{c}}$	$29.0\pm2^{\rm c}$	$7.22\pm0.06^{\circ}$	129
Rotary evaporation drying	$91.2\pm0.1^{\text{e}}$	$3.22\pm0.08^{\text{d}}$	$8.78\pm0.09^{\rm a}$	104
Vacuum drying	92.6 ± 0.0^{d}	45.6 ± 2^{b}	$7.37\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	126

Table 4.4 Amount of water removed, drying time, and dried AQ yield of different drying methods for 100 g fresh AQ and water mass added to rehydrate AQ.

Data are expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (n = 3). Value within rows followed by the same letter indicate no significant difference (P > 0.05) between varieties by Tukey's test.

Dried AQ (10 g) was rehydrated by the addition of distilled water until the moisture content, before drying, was attained. Moisture loss was determined from dried AQ yield (Table 4.4), with the highest AQ yield ($8.78 \pm 0.09\%$) occurring from rotary evaporation. The AQ product of rotary evaporation still had a higher moisture content than other products and this led to its gel-like properties. AQ dried by freeze drying, oven drying, and vacuum drying had similar yields (7.06-7.37%). Spray dried AQ had a much lower yield ($5.01 \pm 0.03\%$), due to losses in the lab spray dryer where product recovery is difficult. However, such losses would become negligible in a commercial spray dryer.

Rehydrated AQ samples were mixed with canola oil, and emulsion properties of the mixtures were measured (Figure 4.9). The spray dried sample showed the highest EAI (1.26 m² g⁻¹), which was comparable with AQ (1.30 m² g⁻¹) that was not previously dried. There were no significant differences among EAI of freeze dried (1.10 m² g⁻¹), oven dried (1.08 m² g⁻¹) and vacuum pressure dried samples (1.10 m² g⁻¹). AQ samples dried in a rotary evaporator achieved the lowest EAI (0.94 m² g⁻¹).

Oven dried AQ sample produced emulsions with the highest ES (78.8%) and demonstrated superior stability than fresh AQ emulsion (77.1%). Oxidation and thermal reactions of AQ components (such as a polysaccharide and protein) during drying for more than 12 h at 80 °C, might have contributed to a higher ES.



Figure 4.9 Emulsion capacity index and stability of AQ prepared with CDC Leader and dried by different drying methods.

However, there was evidence of browning in the oven dried samples. Emulsion stability of freeze dried (75.2%), rotary evaporation dried (75.2%) and vacuum pressure dried (74.4%) samples did not differ significantly from each other. Spray dried samples had relatively lower ES (73.6%) compared with other dried samples. Spray dried AQ yield value was also lower than the other samples, which might have led to an AQ concentration of constituents during rehydration. AQ concentration has been verified having a negative correlation with ES, previously discussed above in section 4.6. Therefore, the lower ES of rehydrated spray dried AQ might be due to this factor.

In summary, spray drying can be regarded as a favoured method for AQ drying as it lowers AQ water content with high efficiency and produces powder that is readily reconstituted without significant negative influences on its emulsion properties. Therefore, spray drying could lead to an AQ product suitable for long-term storage. Additionally, dried AQ products would be suitable emulsifiers for use in a wide range of food products.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The central hypothesis of this research was that AQ emulsion properties not only differed among chickpea cultivars, cooking conditions and drying methods, but also correlated with chickpea seed compositions, physical properties, and hydration characteristics. To validate our hypothesis, AQ was produced from chickpea seed from five different cultivars then the emulsion capacity and stability were measured using absorbance and centrifugation methodologies, respectively. Next, physicochemical properties and hydration kinetics of chickpea seed from different cultivars were evaluated. From this, the overall interrelationship among AQ emulsion properties and chickpea physical, chemical, hydration characteristics, and AQ yield were identified. Finally, the impacts of different soaking and boiling processes, and subsequent drying methods, on AQ emulsion capacity and stability were also investigated.

As described in this research, AQ produced from different chickpea cultivars illustrated significant differences in emulsion properties. Aquafaba (AQ) emulsion capacity and stability, among the five chickpea cultivars, ranged from 1.10 to 1.30 m² g⁻¹ and 71.9 to 77.1%, respectively. Furthermore, AQ obtained from CDC Leader produced emulsions demonstrating superior emulsion capacity and stability. Therefore, AQ produced by CDC Leader was used in further studies to optimize AQ cooking conditions and determine the impact of drying methods on AQ quality and emulsion properties.

Chickpea seed physicochemical properties and hydration characteristics were measured. Chickpea seed physicochemical properties and hydration characteristics did not show any strong correlation with AQ emulsion capacity and stability. This could be due to differences in the dispersal of chemical substances into AQ during cooking. On the other hand, AQ emulsion properties were negatively correlated with its yield and moisture content, suggesting that more dry matter in AQ leads to improved emulsion properties.

Chickpea seed of CDC Leader was soaked and cooked for different times and AQ emulsion properties were measured to identify the best AQ production conditions. Results revealed that AQ prepared by soaking chickpea seed in 4 °C water for 16 h and cooking for 30 min displayed the

highest emulsion capacity (1.30 m² g⁻¹) and stability (77.1%). Furthermore, the influence from different methods of drying on AQ emulsion properties, and drying rates, were investigated. It was found that spray dried AQ resulted in a powder possessing superior emulsion properties and drying rate. Therefore, spray drying was regarded as a preferred AQ drying method.

In conclusion, AQ produced by soaking chickpea seed of CDC Leader in 4 °C water for 16 h and cooking for 30 min, was spray dried to obtain a powder suitable for long term storage. Altogether, AQ exhibits excellent emulsification properties and, when dried, produces a powdered material suitable for storage and transportation. Together this suggests the potential to produce AQ as a concentrated emulsifier to replace egg in food oil emulsions. Selection of chickpea genotype and control of AQ processing is required to standardize emulsion properties. The results demonstrated here can help design useful and novel, egg-free, AQ emulsion products such as, egg-free mayonnaise and salad dressing.

6. FURTHER DIRECTIONS

Results from this study demonstrate the possible application of AQ as an emulsifier to replace egg in food oil emulsions. Moreover, results from this study revealed that chickpea seed physicochemical properties and hydration characteristics did not correlate with AQ emulsion properties. However, the current study does not indicate if AQ physicochemical properties are associated with AQ emulsion properties. It is possible that AQ emulsion capacity and stability are closely correlated to AQ physicochemical properties such as pH, viscosity, protein content, and carbohydrate content. Additionally, AQ as an emulsifier ingredient for food product development (e.g. replacement for eggs in complex emulsions such as mayonnaise and salad dressing) were not investigated in this study.

Therefore, further studies could focus on determining the relationship between AQ emulsion properties and physicochemical properties. A composition with AQ as an emulsifier in mayonnaise or salad dressing could be developed. A sensory study could be designed to evaluate the acceptance of AQ and determine the impact of the product on flavor. Furthermore, all available chickpea cultivars could be investigated. Also, additional AQ cooking parameters (cooking pressure, temperature) and drying methods (Artisan Rototherm drying) could be investigated.

In summary, the future directions of this work could range from AQ food product development to the standardization of AQ quality. Those works together could provide compelling evidence on the efficacy of AQ in commercial food oil emulsions.

REFERENCES

- American Association for Cereal Chemists (AACC). (2000). Methods 44-15.02 Moisture–Air Oven Methods, drying at 103 °C. In *Approved Methods of Analysis*. (11th Ed). St. Paul, MN, USA.
- Association of Official Analytical Chemists (AOAC). (2016). *Official Methods of Analysis of AOAC International*, (20th Ed). Rockville, MD: AOAC International Publication.
- American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers (ASABE) Standards. (1988). S352.2: Moisture Measurement-Unground Grain and Seeds. St Joseph, MI: ASABE.
- Aquafaba Admin. (2016). The Official Aquafaba Website. http://aquafaba.com, retrieved on Jan 02, 2019.
- Abbo, S., C. Molina, R. Jungmann, M.A. Grusak, Z. Berkovitch, R. Reifen, G.Kahl, P. Winter and R. Reifen. (2005). Quantitative trait loci governing carotenoid concentration and weight in seeds of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 111, 185–195.
- Abeyrathne, E.D.N.S., H.Y. Lee and D.U. Ahn, (2013). Egg white proteins and their potential use in food processing or as nutraceutical and pharmaceutical agents – a review. *Poultry science*, 92(12), 3292–3299.
- Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada. (2006). Chickpeas: situation and outlook. *Bi-weekly Bulletin*, 19(13), 1–4.
- Aguilera, Y., R.M. Esteban, V. Benítez, E. Mollá and M.A. Martín-Cabrejas. (2009a). Starch, functional properties, and microstructural characteristics in chickpea and lentil as affected by thermal processing. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 57(22), 10682–10688.
- Aguilera, Y., M.A. Martín-Cabrejas, V. Benítez, E. Mollá, F.J. López-Andréu and R.M. Esteban. (2009b). Changes in carbohydrate fraction during dehydration process of common legumes. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22(7–8), 678–683.

- Ahmad, P., A.A. Abdel Latef, E.F. Abd-Allah, A. Hashem, M. Sarwat, N.A. Anjum and S. Gucel. (2016). Calcium and potassium supplementation enhanced growth, osmolyte secondary metabolite production, and enzymatic antioxidant machinery in cadmium-exposed chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Frontiers in Plant Science*, 7(April), 513.
- Alajaji, S.A. and T.A. El-Adawy. (2006). Nutritional composition of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) as affected by microwave cooking and other traditional cooking methods. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 19(8), 806–812.
- Åman, P. (1979). Carbohydrates in raw and germinated seeds from mung bean and chick pea. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 30(9), 869–875.
- Anton, M., V. Martinet, M. Dalgalarrondo, V. Beaumal, E. David-Briand and H. Rabesona. (2003). Chemical and structural characterisation of low-density lipoproteins purified from hen egg yolk. *Food Chemistry*, 83(2), 175–183.
- Ashur, S.S., H.E. Clark, W.H. Moon and J.L. Malzer. (1973). Nitrogen retention of adult human subjects who consumed wheat and rice supplemented with chickpea, sesame, milk, or whey. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 26(11), 1195–1201.
- Avola, G. and C. Patanè. (2010). Variation among physical, chemical and technological properties in three Sicilian cultivars of Chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 45(12), 2565–2572.
- Bach Knudsen, K. (1997). Carbohydrate and lignin contents of plant materials used in animal feeding. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 67(4), 319–338.
- Baldwin, R.E. (1977). Functional properties of eggs in foods. In W.J. Stadelman and O.J. Cotterill (Eds.), Egg Science and Technology (pp. 279–290). Westport, Conn: AVI Publishing Company, Inc.
- Barakat, H., V. Reim and S. Rohn. (2015). Stability of saponins from chickpea, soy and faba beans in vegetarian, broccoli-based bars subjected to different cooking techniques. *Food Research International*, 76(P1), 142–149.
- Becher, P. (1957). *Emulsions: Theory and Practice*, New York, USA: Van Nostrand Reinhold Publishing Co.

- Bird, L.G., C.L. Pilkington, A. Saputra and L. Serventi. (2017). Products of chickpea processing as texture improvers in gluten-free bread. *Food Science and Technology International*, 23(8), 690–698.
- Bressani, A. and L.G. Elias. (1980). The nutritional role of polyphenols in beans. In: J.H. Hulse (Eds.), *Polyphenols in cereal and legumes* (pp. 61–68). Ottawa, ON: International Development Research Center.
- Charalambous, G and G. Doxastakis. (1989). Food emulsifiers: chemistry, technology, functional properties and applications. London, UK: Elsevier Science
- Chattoraj, D.K. and K.S. Bridi. (1984). Adsorption and the Gibbs Surface Excess. In Charalambous,
 G. and G. Doxastakis (Eds.), *Food Emulsifiers—Chemistry, Technology, Functional Properties and Applications*, (pp, 471). New York, USA: Elsevier Science.
- Chau, C.F., P.C.K. Cheung and Y.S. Wong. (1997). Effects of cooking on content of amino acids and antinutrients in three Chinese indigenous legume seeds. *Journal of the Science of Food* and Agriculture, 75(4), 447–452.
- Chavan, J.K., S.S. Kadam and D.K. Salunkhe. (1989). Chickpea. In Salunkhe, D.K. and S.S. Kadam (Eds.), Handbook of world food legumes: nutritional chemistry, processing technology and utilization, Vol I, (pp. 247–288). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Inc.
- Cherian, B.M., A.L. Leão, M. Da Silva Caldeira, D. Chiarelli, S.F. De Souza, S. Narine and M.R. De Morais Chaves. (2012). Use of saponins as an effective surface modifier in cellulose nanocomposites. *Molecular Crystals and Liquid Crystals*, 556(1), 233–245.
- Corran, J.W. (1943). Some observations on a typical food emulsion. In H. Bennett (Eds.), *Emulsion Technology, Theoretical and Applied, including the symposium on technical aspects of emulsions* (pp. 176–192). Brooklyn, NY: Chemical Publishing Company, Inc.
- Chung, C., A. Sher, P. Rousset, E.A. Decker and D.J. McClements. (2017). Formulation of food emulsions using natural emulsifiers: Utilization of quillaja saponin and soy lecithin to fabricate liquid coffee whiteners. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 209, 1–11.
- Clemente, A., R. Sánchez-Vioque, J. Vioque, J. Bautista and F. Millán. (1998). Effect of processing on water absorption and softening kinetics in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L) seeds. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 78(2), 169–174.

- Dalgetty, D.D. and B. Baik. (2003). Isolation and characterization of cotyledon fibers from peas, lentils, and chickpeas. *Cereal Chemistry*, 80(3), 310–315.
- Damian, J.J., S. Huo and L. Serventi. (2018). Phytochemical content and emulsifying ability of pulses cooking water. *European Food Research and Technology*, 244(9), 1647–1655.
- Das, K.P. and J.E. Kinsella. (1990). Stability of food emulsions: physicochemical role of protein and nonprotein emulsifiers. In Kinsella J.E. (Eds.), *Advances in food and nutrition research Vol 34*, (pp, 81–201). San Diego, USA: Academic Press, Inc.
- De Almeida Costa, G.E., K. da Silva Queiroz-Monici, S.M. Pissini Machado Reis and A.C. de Oliveira. (2006). Chemical composition, dietary fibre and resistant starch contents of raw and cooked pea, common bean, chickpea and lentil legumes. *Food Chemistry*, 94(3), 327–330.
- Depree, J.A. and G.P. Savage. (2001). Physical and flavour stability of mayonnaise. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 12(5-6), 157–163.
- Derjaguin, B. V. and L. Landau. (1993). Theory of the stability of strongly charged lyophobic sols and of the adhesion of strongly charged particles in solutions of electrolytes. *Progress in Surface Science*, 43(1–4), 30–59.
- Dickinson, E. and Y. Yamamoto. (1996). Rheology of milk protein gels and protein-stabilized emulsion gels cross-linked with transglutaminase. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44(6), 1371–1377.
- Dickinson, E., B.S. Murray and G. Stainsby. (1988). Protein adsorption at air/water and oil/water interfaces. In E. Dickinson and G. Stainsby (Eds.), *Advances in Food Emulsions and Foams* (pp. 123–162). London and New York: Elsevier Applied Science.
- Du, S., H. Jiang, X. Yu and J. Jane. (2014). Physicochemical and functional properties of whole legume flour. LWT - Food Science and Technology, 55(1), 308–313.
- Duan, X., M. Li, B. Ji, X. Liu and X. Xu. (2017). Effect of fertilization on structural and molecular characteristics of hen egg ovalbumin. *Food Chemistry*, 221, 1340–1345.
- El-Adawy, T.A. (2002). Nutritional composition and antinutritional factors of chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum* L.) undergoing different cooking methods and germination. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 57(1), 83–97.

- FAOSTAT. (2017). Crop Statistics. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC/visualize, retrieved on Feb 08, 2019.
- Frias, J., C. Vidal-Valverde, C. Sotomayor, C. Diaz-Pollan and G. Urbano. (2000). Influence of processing on available carbohydrate content and antinutritional factors of chickpeas. *European Food Research and Technology*, 210(5), 340–345.
- Friberg, J. and L. Mandell. (1970). Influence of phase equilibria on properties of emulsions. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 59(7), 1001–1004.
- Furukawa, T., M. Maekawa, T. Oki, I. Suda, S. Iida, H. Shimada, I. Takamure and K. Kadowaki. (2006). The Rc and Rd genes are involved in proanthocyanidin synthesis in rice pericarp. *The Plant Journal*, 49(1), 91–102.
- Garti, N., and G.F. Remon. (1984). Relationship between nature of vegetable oil, emulsifier and the stability of w/o emulsion. *International Journal of Food Science & Technology*, 19(6), 711–717.
- Geervani, P. (1991). Utilization of chickpea in India and scope for novel and alternative uses. In Uses of Tropical Grain Legumes: Proceedings of Consultants' Meeting, 47-54. Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India: ICRISAT Center.
- Ghazaei, S., M. Mizani, Z. Piravi-Vanak, M. Alimi, S. Ghazaei, M. Mizani, Z. Piravi-Vanak and M. Alimi. (2015). Particle size and cholesterol content of a mayonnaise formulated by OSAmodified potato starch. *Food Science and Technology (Campinas)*, 35(1), 150–156.
- Ghoush, M.A., M. Samhouri, M., Al-Holy and T. Herald. (2008). Formulation and fuzzy modeling of emulsion stability and viscosity of a gum–protein emulsifier in a model mayonnaise system. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 84(2), 348–357.
- Gil, J., S. Nadal, D. Luna, M.T. Moreno and A.D. Haro. (1996). Variability of some physicochemical characters in Desi and Kabuli chickpea types. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 71(2), 179–184.
- Gowen, A., N. Abu-Ghannam, J. Frias and J. Oliveira. (2007). Modelling the water absorption process in chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum* L.)—The effect of blanching pre-treatment on water intake and texture kinetics. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 78(3), 810–819.

- Graham, D. and M. Phillips. (1979). Proteins at liquid interfaces. *Journal of Colloid and Interface Science*, 70(3), 427–439.
- Güçlü-Üstündağ, Ö. and G. Mazza. (2007). Saponins: Properties, Applications and Processing. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition*, 47(3), 231–258.
- Gül, M.K., C.Ö. Egesel and H. Turhan. (2008). The effects of planting time on fatty acids and tocopherols in chickpea. *European Food Research and Technology*, 226(3), 517–522.
- Han, I.H. and B.K. Baik. (2006). Oligosaccharide Content and Composition of Legumes and Their Reduction by Soaking, Cooking, Ultrasound, and High Hydrostatic Pressure. *Cereal Chemistry Journal*, 83(4), 428–433.
- Harrison, L.J. and F.E. Cunningham. (1985). Factors influencing the quality of mayonnaise: A review. *Journal of Food Quality*, 8(1), 1–20.
- Hromádková, Z. and A. Ebringerová. (2003). Ultrasonic extraction of plant materials investigation of hemicellulose release from buckwheat hulls. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 10(3), 127–133.
- Huopalahti, R., R. López-Fandiño, M. Anton and R. Schade. (2007). *Bioactive egg compounds*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer-Verlag.
- Hüttner, E.K. and E.K. Arendt. (2010). Recent advances in gluten-free baking and the current status of oats. *Trends in Food Science and Technology*, 21(6), 303–312.
- Ibarz, A., C. González and G.V. Barbosa-Cánovas. (2004). Kinetic models for water adsorption and cooking time in chickpea soaked and treated by high pressure. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 63(4), 467–472.
- Iyer, V., S.S. Kadam and D.K. Salunkhe. (1989). Cooking. In D.K. Salunkhe and S.S. Kadam (Eds.), Handbook of world food legumes: nutritional chemistry, processing technology and utilization, Vol III (pp. 141–163). Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, Inc.
- Janssen, M., C. Busch, M. Rödiger, and U. Hamm. (2016). Motives of consumers following a vegan diet and their attitudes towards animal agriculture. *Appetite*, 105, 643–651.
- Jaynes, E.N. (1985). Applications in the food industry: II. In P. Becher (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Emulsion Technology, Vol. 2: Applications (pp. 367–369). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker.

- Jitngarmkusol, S., J. Hongsuwankul and K. Tananuwong. (2008). Chemical compositions, functional properties, and microstructure of defatted macadamia flours. *Food Chemistry*, 110(1), 23–30.
- Jood, S., S. Bishnoi and A. Sharma. (1998). Chemical analysis and physico-chemical properties of chickpea and lentil cultivars. *Nahrung*, 42(2), 71–74.
- Jukanti, A.K., P.M. Gaur, C.L.L. Gowda and R.N. Chibbar. (2012). Nutritional quality and health benefits of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.): A review. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 108(S1), S11–S26.
- Karaca, A.C., N. Low and M. Nickerson. (2011). Emulsifying properties of chickpea, faba bean, lentil and pea proteins produced by isoelectric precipitation and salt extraction. *Food Research International*, 44(9), 2742–2750.
- Khattak, A.B., G.S.S. Khattak, Z. Mahmood, N. Bibi and I. Ihsanullah. (2006). Study of selected quality and agronomic characteristics and their interrelationship in Kabuli-type chickpea genotypes (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 41(S2), 1–5.
- Kinsella, J.E. (1979). Functional properties of soy proteins. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists'* Society, 56(3), 242–258.
- Kiosseoglou, V.D. and P. Sherman. (1983). The influence of egg yolk lipoproteins on the rheology and stability of O/W emulsions and mayonnaise. 2. Interfacial tension-time behaviour of egg yolk lipoproteins at the groudnut oil-water interface. *Collold & Polymer Science*, 261, 502– 507.
- Klamczynska, B., Z. Czuchajowska and B.K. Baik. (2001). Composition, soaking, cooking properties and thermal characteristics of starch of chickpeas, wrinkled peas and smooth peas. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 36(5), 563–572.
- Laca, A., M.C. Sáenz, B. Paredes and M. Díaz, M. (2010). Rheological properties, stability and sensory evaluation of low-cholesterol mayonnaises prepared using egg yolk granules as emulsifying agent. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 97(2), 243–252.
- Leopold, A.C., (1983). Volumetric components of seed imbibition. *Plant Physiology*, 73(3), 677–680.

- Li, J.M. and S.P. Nie. (2016). The functional and nutritional aspects of hydrocolloids in foods. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 53, 46–61.
- Lin, M., S.H. Tay, H. Yang, B. Yang and H. Li. (2017). Replacement of eggs with soybean protein isolates and polysaccharides to prepare yellow cakes suitable for vegetarians. *Food Chemistry*, 229, 663–673.
- Liu, J., Y.Y. Shim, J. Shen, Y. Wang, S. Ghosh and M.J.T. Reaney. (2016). Variation of composition and functional properties of gum from six Canadian flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) cultivars. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 51(10), 2313–2326.
- Liu, X.D., R.X. Han, H. Yun, K.C. Jung, D.I. Jin, B.D. Lee, T.S. Min and C. Jo. (2009). Effect of irradiation on foaming properties of egg white proteins. *Poultry Science*, 88(11), 2435–2441.
- Luo, Z., B.S. Murray, A. Yusoff, M.R.A. Morgan, M.J.W. Povey and A.J. Day. (2011). Particlestabilizing effects of flavonoids at the oil-water interface. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(6), 2636–2645.
- Lyimo, M., J. Mugula and T. Elias. (1992). Nutritive composition of broth from selected bean varieties cooked for various periods. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 58(4), 535–539.
- Lynch, M.J. and W.C. Griffin. (1974). Food emulsions. In K. Lissant (Eds.), *Emulsions and Emulsion Technology, Part I* (pp. 1–30). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Ma, Z. and J.I. Boye. (2013). Advances in the design and production of reduced-fat and reducedcholesterol salad dressing and mayonnaise: A review. *Food and Bioprocess Technology*, 6(3), 648–670.
- Mariotti, M., M.A. Pagani and M. Lucisano. (2013). The role of buckwheat and HPMC on the breadmaking properties of some commercial gluten-free bread mixtures. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 30(1), 393–400.
- Martin, W.G., J. Augustyniak and W.H. Cook. (1964). Fractionation and characterization of the low-density lipoproteins of hen's egg yolk. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Specialized Section on Lipids and Related Subjects*, 84(6), 714–720.

- Mazur, W.M., J.A. Duke, K. Wähälä, S. Rasku. and H Adlercreutz. (1998). Isoflavonoids and lignans in legumes: Nutritional and health aspects in humans. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*, 9(4), 193–200.
- McCLEMENTS, D.J., F.J. Monahan and J.E. Kinsella. (1993). Effect of emulsion droplets on the rheology of whey protein isolate gels. *Journal of Texture Studies*, 24(4), 411–422.
- McCully, K.A., C.C. Mok and R.H. Common. (1962). Paper elegtrophoretic characterization of proteins and lipoproteins of hen's egg yolk. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*, 40(7), 937–952.
- McWATTERS, K.H. and M.R. Holmes. (1979). Influence of pH and salt concentration on nitrogen solubility and emulsification properties of soy flour. *Journal of Food Science*, 44(3), 770– 773.
- Mizutani, R. and R. Nakamura. (1984). Emulsifying properties of egg yolk low density lipoprotein (LDL): comparison with bovine serum albumin and egg lecithin. *Lebensmittel - Wissenschaft* and Technologie, 17, 213–216.
- Mohsenin, N.N. (1970). *Physical Properties of Plant and Animal Materials*. New York, USA: Gordon and Breach Science Publishers.
- Mokni Ghribi, A., A. Sila, I. Maklouf Gafsi, C. Blecker, S. Danthine, H. Attia, A. Bougatef and S. Besbes. (2015). Structural, functional, and ACE inhibitory properties of water-soluble polysaccharides from chickpea flours. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 75, 276–282.
- Montgomery, D.C. (2012). *Design and Analysis of Experiments*. 8th Eds. Hoboken, N.J.: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Moros, J.E., J.M. Franco and C. Gallegos. (2002). Rheological properties of cholesterol-reduced, yolk-stabilized mayonnaise. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 79(8), 837–843.
- Muhammad Zia-ul-HAQ, A. (2009). Effects of cultivar and row spacing on tocopherol and sterol composition of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L) seed oil. *Tarım Bilimleri Dergisi*, 15(1), 25–30.
- Mustafa, R., Y. He, Y.Y. Shim, M.J.T. Reaney. (2018). Aquafaba, wastewater from chickpea canning, functions as an egg replacer in sponge cake. *International Journal of Food Science* and Technology, 53(10), 2247–2255.
- Muzquiz, M., C. Burbano, G. Ayet, M.M. Pedrosa and C. Cuadrado. (1999). The investigation of antinutritional factors in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. Environmental and varietal differences. *Biotechnology, Agronomy, Society and Environment*, 3(4), 210–216.
- Nakai, S. (1983). Structure-function relationships of food proteins: with an emphasis on the importance of protein hydrophobicity. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 31(4), 676–683.
- Nakamura, A., R. Yoshida, H. Maeda, H. Furuta and M. Corredig. (2004). Study of the role of the carbohydrate and protein moieties of soy soluble polysaccharides in their emulsifying properties. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 52(17), 5506–5512.
- Nawar, W.W. (1985). Lipids. In O. Fennema (Eds.), *Food Chemistry* (pp. 139). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker.
- Nikzade, V., Tehrani, M.M., Saadatmand-Tarzjan, M., (2012). Optimization of low-cholesterollow-fat mayonnaise formulation: Effect of using soy milk and some stabilizer by a mixture design approach. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 28(2), 344–352.
- Nussinovitch, A., I.J. Kopelman and S. Mizrahi. (1990). Effect of hydrocolloid and minerals content on the mechanical properties of gels. *Topics in Catalysis*, 4(4), 257–265.
- Ocampo, B., L.D. Robertson and K.B. Singh. (1998). Variation in seed protein content in the annual wildCicer species. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 78(2), 220–224.
- Önning, G., M.A. Juillerat, L. Fay, N.G. Asp. (1994). Degradation of oat saponins during heat processing-effect of pH, stainless steel, and iron at different temperatures. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 42(11), 2578–2582.
- Özer, S., T. Karaköy, F. Toklu, F.S. Baloch, B. Kilian, H. Özkan. (2010). Nutritional and physicochemical variation in Turkish Kabuli chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) landraces. *Euphytica*, 175(2), 237–249.
- Park, H.Y., T.J. Yoon, H.H. Kim, Y.S. Han and H.D. Choi. (2017). Changes in the antigenicity and allergenicity of ovalbumin in chicken egg white by *N*-acetylglucosaminidase. *Food Chemistry*, 217, 342–345.

- Parker, N.S. and N.J. Krog. (1987). Properties and functions of stabilizing agents in food emulsions. C R C Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition, 25(4), 285–315.
- Pastor, A., Z.G. Compson, P. Dijkstra, J.L. Riera, E. Martí, F. Sabater, B.A. Hungate and J.C. Marks. (2014). Stream carbon and nitrogen supplements during leaf litter decomposition: contrasting patterns for two foundation species. *Oecologia*, 176(4), 1111–1121.
- Patanè, C., E. Iacoponi and S.A. Raccuia. (2004). Physico-chemical characteristics, water absorption, soaking and cooking properties of some Sicilian populations of chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 55(7), 547–554.
- Pearce, K.N. and J.E. Kinsella. (1978). Emulsifying properties of proteins: evaluation of a turbidimetric technique. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 26(3), 716–723.
- Pearson, T.W., H.J. Dawson and H.B. Lackey. (1981). Studies on Desi and Kabuli chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L .) cultivars. 3. Mineral and trace element composition. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 29(5), 1091–1093.
- Pinto, G. and A. Esin. (2004). Kinetics of the osmotic hydration of chickpeas. *Journal of Chemical Education*, 81(4), 532–536.
- Powrie, W.D. and M.A. Tung. (1976). Food dispersions. In O.R. Fennema (Eds.) Principles of Food Science. Part 1. Food Chemistry (pp. 539–575). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Powrie W.D. and S. Nakaï. (1986). The chemistry of eggs and egg products. In W.J. Stadelman and O.J. Cotterill (Eds.), *Egg science and technology* 9 (pp. 7-139). Westport, CT: Avi Publishing Company, Inc.
- Puppo, M.C., D.A. Sorgentini and M.C. Añón. (2000). Rheological study of dispersions prepared with modified soybean protein isolates. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 77(1), 63–71.
- Rahmati, K., M., Mazaheri Tehrani and K. Daneshvar. (2014). Soy milk as an emulsifier in mayonnaise: physico-chemical, stability and sensory evaluation. *Journal of Food Science* and Technology, 51(11), 3341–3347.
- Randall, R.C., G.O. Phillips and P.A. Williams. (1988). The role of the proteinaceous component on the emulsifying properties of gum arabic. *Food Hydrocolloids*, 2(2), 131–140.

- Rao, D.L.N., K.E. Giller, A.R. Yeo and T.J. Flowers. (2002). The effects of salinity and sodicity upon nodulation and nitrogen fixation in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*). *Annals of Botany*, 89(5), 563–570.
- Rao, P.U. and Y.G. Deosthale. (1982). Tannin content of pulses: Varietal differences and effects of germination and cooking. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture*, 33(10), 1013– 1016.
- Raymundo, A., J.M. Franco, J. Empis and I. Sousa. (2002). Optimization of the composition of low-fat oil-in-water emulsions stabilized by white lupin protein. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 79(8), 783–790.
- Research and Markets. (2015). Pea protein market by type (isolates, concentrates, textured), application, textured pea protein by form (dry, wet), and by region-global trends and forecast to 2020. https://www.researchandmarkets.com/research/tkbvt9/pea_protein, retrieved on Mar 06, 2019.
- Révolution végétale. (2014). Mousses–Isolats de protéines. https://web.archive.org/web/20150227013130/http://www.revolutionvegetale.com/fr/nonclasse/mousses-isolats-de-proteines/, retrieved on Jan 29, 2019.
- Ruiz, R.G., K.R. Price, A.E. Arthur, M.E. Rose, M.J.C. Rhodes and R.G. Fenwick. (1996). Effect of soaking and cooking on the saponin content and composition of chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum*) and lentils (*Lens culinaris*). *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 44(6), 1526–1530.
- Sánchez-Mata, M.C., M.J. Penuela-Teruel, M. Cámara-Hurtado, C. Díez-Marquéz and M.E. Torija-Isasa. (1998). Determination of mono-, di-, and oligosaccharides in legumes by highperformance liquid chromatography using an amino-bonded silica column. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 46(98), 3648–3652.
- Seli, H.M., A.G. Olsen and R.E. Kremers. (1935). Lecitho-protein the emulsifying ingredient in egg yolk. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry*, 27(10), 1222–1223.
- Serventi, L., S. Wang, J. Zhu, S. Liu and F. Fei. (2018). Cooking water of yellow soybeans as emulsifier in gluten-free crackers. *European Food Research and Technology*, 244(12), 2141– 2148.

- Shim, Y.Y., R. Mustafa, J. Shen, K. Ratanapariyanuch and M.J.T. Reaney. (2018). Composition and properties of aquafaba: Water recovered from commercially canned chickpeas. *Journal* of Visualized Experiments, 132, 1–14.
- Siah, S., J.A. Wood, S. Agboola, I. Konczak and C.L. Blanchard. (2014). Effects of soaking, boiling and autoclaving on the phenolic contents and antioxidant activities of faba beans (*Vicia faba* L.) differing in seed coat colours. *Food Chemistry*, 142, 461–468.
- Sila, A., N. Bayar, I. Ghazala, A. Bougatef, R. Ellouz-Ghorbel and S. Ellouz-Chaabouni. (2014). Water-soluble polysaccharides from agro-industrial by-products: Functional and biological properties. *International Journal of Biological Macromolecules*, 69, 236–243.
- Singh, B., J.P. Singh, N. Singh and A. Kaur. (2017). Saponins in pulses and their health promoting activities: A review. *Food Chemistry*, 233, 540–549.
- Singh, U. (1985). Nutritional quality of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.): current status and future research needs. *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 35(431), 339–351.
- Sotelo, A., F. Flores and M. Hernandez. (1987). Chemical composition and nutritional value of Mexican varieties of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Plant Foods for Human Nutrition*, 37(4), 299–306.
- Sreerama, Y.N., D.A. Neelam, V.B. Sashikala and V.M., Pratape. (2010). Distribution of nutrients and antinutrients in milled fractions of chickpea and horse gram: Seed coat phenolics and their distinct modes of enzyme inhibition. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(7), 4322–4330.
- Stantiall, S.E., Dale, K.J., Calizo, F.S., Serventi, L., (2018). Application of pulses cooking water as functional ingredients: The foaming and gelling abilities. *European Food Research and Technology*, 244(1), 97–104.
- Sun, J.X., R. Sun, X.F. Sun and Y. Su. (2004a). Fractional and physico-chemical characterization of hemicelluloses from ultrasonic irradiated sugarcane bagasse. *Carbohydrate Research*, 339(2), 291–300.
- Sun, J.X., X.F. Sun, H. Zhao and R. Sun. (2004b). Isolation and characterization of cellulose from sugarcane bagasse. *Polymer Degradation and Stability*, 84(2), 331–339.

- Tadros, T.F. and B. Vincent. (1983). Emulsion stability. In P. Becher (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Emulsion Technology (pp. 129–285). New York, NY: Marcel Dekker.
- Tarafdar, J.C., B.K.Yadav and S. Dave. (2008). Phytate phosphorus and mineral changes during soaking, boiling and germination of legumes and pearl millet. *Journal of Food Science and Technology -Mysore*, 45(4), 344–348.
- Tosh, S.M. and S. Yada. (2010). Dietary fibres in pulse seeds and fractions: Characterization, functional attributes, and applications. *Food Research International*, 43(2), 450–460.
- Turhan, M., S. Sayar and S. Gunasekaran. (2002). Application of Peleg model to study water absorption in chickpea during soaking. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 53(2), 153–159.
- U.S.D.A. (2018). Nutrient database for standard reference. http://ndb.nal.usda.gov/ndb, retrieved on Jan 22, 2019.
- Vallverdú-Queralt, A., J. Regueiro, J.F. Rinaldi De Alvarenga, X. Torrado and R.M. Lamuela-Raventos. (2014). Home cooking and phenolics: Effect of thermal treatment and addition of extra virgin olive oil on the phenolic profile of tomato sauces. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 62(14), 3314–3320.
- Vasishtha, H. and R.P. Srivastava. (2013). Effect of soaking and cooking on dietary fibre components of different type of chickpea genotypes. *Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 50(3), 579–584.
- Vega, C. and M.K. Grover. (2011). Physicochemical properties of acidified skim milk gels containing cocoa flavanols. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 59(12), 6740–6747.
- Venvay, E.J.W. and J.T.G. Overbeek. (1948). *Theory of the Stability of Lipophobic Colloids*. Amsterdam, Metherlands: Elsevier.
- Vineeth, T.V., P. Kumar and G.K. Krishna. (2016). Bioregulators protected photosynthetic machinery by inducing expression of photorespiratory genes under water stress in chickpea. *Photosynthetica*, 54(2), 234–242.
- Wabel, C. (1998). Influence of Lecithin on Structure and Stability of Parenteral Fat Emulsions.PhD. Thesis. Erlangen, German: Department of Natural Sciences, Friedrich-Alexander-University.

- Waginaire, L. (1997). Place of lipids as emulsifiers in the future. *Ocl-Oleagineux Corps Gras Lipides*, 4(4), 271–275.
- Wang, N. and J.K. Daun. (2004). The chemical composition and nutritive value of Canadian Pulses.In *Canadian Grain Commission Report*, 19–29. Canada: Canadian Grain Commission.
- Wang, Y., D. Li, L.J. Wang, S.J. Li and B. Adhikari. (2010). Effects of drying methods on the functional properties of flaxseed gum powders. *Carbohydrate Polymers*, 81(1), 128–133.
- Wilde, P.J. and D.C. Clarke. (1996). Foam formation and stability. In G.M. Hall (Eds.) *Methods of testing protein functionality* (pp. 110–149). London, UK: Blackie Academic and Professional.
- Wood, J.A. and M.A. Grusak. (2007). Nutritional value of chickpea. In S.S. Yadav, R. Redden, W. Chen and B. Sharma (Eds.), *Chickpea Breeding and Management* (pp. 101-142). Wallingford, UK: CAB International.
- Wood, J.A. and S. Harden. (2006). A method to estimate the hydration and swelling properties of chickpeas (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Journal of Food Science*, 71(4), E190–E195.
- Wood, P.J. (2010). Special section: Molecular diversity and health benefits of carbohydrates from cereals and pulses oat and rye -glucan: Properties and function. *Cereal Chemistry*, 87(4), 315–330.
- Woodstock, L.W. (1988). Seed imbibition: a critical period for successful germination. *Journal of Seed Technology*, 12(1), 1–15.
- Xu, B. and S.K.C. Chang. (2008). Effect of soaking, boiling, and steaming on total phenolic content and antioxidant activities of cool season food legumes. *Food Chemistry*, 110(1), 1–13.
- Xu, Y., M. Thomas and H.L. Bhardwaj. (2014). Chemical composition, functional properties and microstructural characteristics of three Kabuli chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) as affected by different cooking methods. *International Journal of Food Science and Technology*, 49, 1215–1223.
- Yildirim, A. and M.D. Öner. (2015). Electrical conductivity, water absorption, leaching, and color change of chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) during soaking with ultrasound treatment. *International Journal of Food Properties*, 18(6), 1359–1372.

Zia-Ul-Haq, M., M. Ahmad, S. Iqbal, S. Ahmad and H. Ali. (2007). Characterization and compositional studies of oil from seeds of Desi chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) cultivars grown in Pakistan. *Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society*, 84(12), 1143–1148.

APPENDIX A



Dried AQ dissolved in water to refresh AQ

Figure A.1 Dried AQ dissolved in water to refresh AQ. (A) Freeze dried AQ; (B) spray dried AQ; (C) oven dried AQ; (D) rotary evaporation dried AQ; and (E) vacuum oven dried AQ

APPENDIX B

Permission to reuse Figures and Tables from existing literatures

The following copyright permission forms are arranged in order of Table or Figure appearance in the text.



Thesis/Dissertation Reuse Request

Taylor & Francis is pleased to offer reuses of its content for a thesis or dissertation free of charge contingent on resubmission of permission request if work is published.



Copyright © 2019 <u>Copyright Clearance Center, Inc.</u> All Rights Reserved. <u>Privacy statement</u>. <u>Terms and</u> <u>Conditions</u>.

Comments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

Re: JoVE Permission

Nam Nguyen <nam.nguyen@jove.com>

Fri 2019-03-08 10:49 AM

To:He, Rachel <yuh885@mail.usask.ca>;

Cc:Ali-Rae Clark <ali-rae.clark@jove.com>;

Hi Rachel,

Thank you for the quick response.

Please consider this explicit permission to re-use Figure 6 from JoVE 56305. Please ensure that the original JoVE article is cited in the figure legend as well as the reference.

If you have any further questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Best,

Nam Nguyen, Ph.D. Manager of Review JoVE 617.674.1888 Follow us: <u>Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn</u> <u>About JoVE</u> This Agreement between University of Saskatchewan -- Yue He ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

<u>printable details</u>	
License Number	4544030311163
License date	Mar 08, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	International Journal of Food Science & Technology
Licensed Content Title	Aquafaba, wastewater from chickpea canning, functions as an egg replacer in sponge cake
Licensed Content Author	Rana Mustafa, Yue He, Youn Young Shim, et al
Licensed Content Date	May 7, 2018
Licensed Content Pages	9
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	University/Academic
Format	Print and electronic
Portion	Figure/table
Number of figures/tables	1
Original Wiley figure/table number(s)	Figure 3
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Chickpea Aquafaba as An Emulsifier in Food Oil Emulsion
Expected completion date	Mar 2019
Expected size	91
(number of pages)	

This Agreement between University of Saskatchewan -- Yue He ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

Your confirmation email will contain your order number for future reference.

printable details	
License Number	4544040020354
License date	Mar 08, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	European Food Research and Technology
Licensed Content Title	Application of pulses cooking water as functional ingredients: the foaming and gelling abilities
Licensed Content Author	Sophie E. Stantiall, Kylie J. Dale, Faith S. Calizo et al
Licensed Content Date	Jan 1, 2017
Licensed Content Volume	244
Licensed Content Issue	1
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	academic/university or research institute
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	<501
Author of this Springer Nature content	no
Title	Chickpea Aquafaba as An Emulsifier in Food Oil Emulsion
Institution name	n/a
Expected presentation date	Mar 2019
Portions	Figure 1